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Background 
 

 

Coinciding with the Centenary of Anzacs our incentive behind the 

series of biographical publications is the Adelaide University 

Football and Cricket Club's desire to honour our players who 

served in the Great War (1914 - 1918). These brave men put on 

hold their academic, professional and sporting careers for King 

and Country in the name of peace and freedom. The AUFC/AUCC 

WW1 Memorial Committee is endeavouring to identify every one 

of our players who served and prepare life stories on all. This is 

to ensure their sacrifices and further contributions to society will 

be recognised by future generations. 

 

On Anzac Day 2015, the Centenary of the Gallipoli landing, a 

memorial plaque was unveiled on the Adelaide University Oval 

Pavilion and this was followed by the erection of a picket fence 

between the pavilion and the scoreboard with each picket 

bearing a plaque with the name of an AUFC/AUCC player who 

served. 

 

The following documentation relates to the life of Alban George 

Moyes. It is compilation of information and photographs 

collected from a variety of historical sources. 
 

 

 

AUFC/AUCC WW1 MEMORIAL COMMITTEE 
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World War 1 Service History 

 

Alban George MOYES 

Place of birth Gladstone South Australia 

Religion Church of England 

Occupation University student 

Address 179 Gover Street, North Adelaide, South Australia 

Marital status Single 

Age at embarkation 22 

Next of kin Father, J Moyes, Semaphore, South Australia 

Enlistment date 15 July 1915 

Rank on enlistment 2nd Lieutenant 

Unit name 16th Battalion, 13th Reinforcement  

AWM Embarkation Roll number 23/33/3 

Embarkation details Unit embarked from Adelaide, South Australia, on board HMAT 

A30 Borda on 11 January 1916 

Rank from Nominal Roll Major 

Unit from Nominal Roll 16th Battalion 

Recommendations (Medals and Awards) Military Cross 

 

Recommendation date: 2 March 1918 

Fate Returned to Australia 8 November 1918 

Medals Military Cross 

'For conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty. He successfully led his 

company through extremely heavy enemy barrage to the relief of a 

battalion, which he accomplished with very few casualties, afterwards 

organizing the defence with great skill, and greatly influencing his men by 

his personal example and courage. He displayed great resource and ability 

in keeping up communications with his headquarters, even under the 

heaviest barrage, and he contributed largely to the successful holding of the 

line by his battalion.' 

Source: 'Commonwealth Gazette' No. 219 

Date: 20 December 1917 

Military Cross 

 

Source: 'Commonwealth Gazette' No. 165 

Date: 24 October 1918 

Other details War service: Western Front 

Medals: Military Cross, British War Medal, Victory Medal 

https://www.aif.adfa.edu.au/showUnit?unitCode=INF16REIN13
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WW1 Service Records 

 
https://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/ViewImage.aspx?B=7983551 

 

 

https://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/ViewImage.aspx?B=7983551
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Group Portrait of Officers of the 48th Battalion (WW1) 

 
 

From left to right, back row: Lieutenant (Lt) Geoffrey Paul Leane MC; Lt Robert Scott Rafferty MM; Lt Reginald Charles Bleechmore; Second 
Lieutenant (2nd Lt) Charles William Stoerkel MC and Bar; Lt George Dean Mitchell MC DCM; Lt Joseph Arthur Bingley; Lt Edward Gordon 

Holton; Lt (later Captain) Harry Downes MC MM; Lt Angus Salier Ferguson French Croix de Guerre (killed in action 3 May 1918); Lt Archibald 
Robert Allen; Lt Wallace Douglas Pritchard; Lt (later Captain) Robert Eldred Potts.  

Middle row: Lt Alfred Percy Ford MM; Lt Arthur John Gelston MC; Lt Leslie St.John Brown; Lt Hurtle John Burnett MC; Lt Alfred Henry 
Lawrence; Lt Douglas Harold Clarke; Lt Henry William James; Lt William Bosward Carr MC DCM; Captain (Capt) Gordon Augustus Pavy; Lt 

Richard Nicholas Fletcher; Lt John Whittle (killed in action 29 March 1918); Capt Norman George Imlay MC; Lt Percy Ernest Nimmo.  
Front row: Lt Leslie George Challen MC; Capt Thomas Hampton Elliot (killed in action 28 March 1918); Capt Frederick Anderson MC; Major 

Alban George Moyes MC; Lieutenant Colonel (later Colonel) Raymond Lionel Leane CMG DSO MC; Capt David Austral Twining MC MM 
French Croix de Guerre; Lt Lavington Lewis Carter MC; Capt Derwas Goring Charles Cumming MC and Bar (killed in action 3 May 1918) Capt 

Vernon Carlisle Brown MC and bar (Medical Officer); Capt John Cyril Flood (Chaplain) 

 
Note: Major Alban George Moyes MC - is actually front row 5th from left next to Lt.Col. Raymond Leane 

 
48th Battalion Regimental Flag 
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Biography 
 

 Alban George “Johnny” Moyes 
(1893 – 1963) 

Introduction 
Most older cricket devotees will have read one of his books and probably have vague memories of Johnny Moyes as 
a cricket commentator on radio and in the early days of television in Australia. Perhaps they will only remember his 
description of the last over bowled by Wesley Hall in the remarkable tied Australia v West Indies Test Match at the 
“Gabba” in 1960. Younger cricket followers probably have never heard of him. 
 
There have been several other short biographical publications which briefly cover aspects of the life of Alban George 
"Johnny" Moyes 1. However, his military service to his country, contributions to cricket as a player, mentor, journalist 
and author, deserve far more.  
 
This biography provides information on his family background, growing up in South Australia, education and sport at 
St Peter's College, his association with the Adelaide University Cricket and Football Clubs and his emergence as a 
first-class cricketer for South Australia. His education and promising cricket career then were put on hold when he 
enlisted to serve during the Great War (1914 -1918). Had the First World War (and injuries sustained) not 
interrupted his career in his early 20's - what might have been? 
 
After moving to the Eastern States following his return from World War 1, his cricket playing days in Victoria and 
New South Wales are discussed. An attacking batsman, inspired perhaps by Victor Trumper, his performances were 
inconsistent, however he feared no bowler and on his day, he showed his brilliant ability to score quickly and 
importantly entertain spectators. His emergence as a respected journalist and the close relationship he formed with 
Sir Donald Bradman are also explored.  
 
Newspaper articles, representing only a small proportion of those written about him or by him, are included to give 
some insight into his lifelong involvement with cricket. After his retirement from playing, his writings clearly 
reflected strong opinions developed through an intimate knowledge of the game, its players and administration. 

Early Years and Education 
Alban George “Johnny” Moyes was born at Gladstone, South Australia on 2nd January 1893, to John "Jack" Moyes, a 
schoolteacher and Ellen Jane (nee Stoward). He was the youngest of their five surviving children: John Stoward 
Moyes (1884 – 1972), Morton Henry Moyes (1886 – 1981), Vera Mary Moyes (1887 – 1961), Thelma Elizabeth Moyes 
(1889 – 1977). First-born child, a boy, had died in 1883 when only two days old.  At the time of Johnny’s birth his 
father was the headmaster at the Gladstone School in South Australian mid-north.  Jack Moyes, his parents and 
siblings all had grown up in New South Wales and the family moved to South Australia in 1888 to further Jack’s 
teaching career as a country head-teacher with the SA Education Department. He participated in community 
activities and Now in now in his early 40s, Jack who had been a particularly good cricketer in NSW, played for the 
local Gladstone team. 
 
The family moved from Gladstone when Jack was transferred to the Naracoorte School in the south-east of South 
Australia. Sadly in 1898, while in living in Naracoorte, tragedy struck when Johnny's mother Ellen, died. The following 
year, they returned to Adelaide when Jack was appointed headmaster of the Maylands School on Wellington Road 
(now Portrush Road). Johnny attended the Wellington Road School until he was 11 years of age. In 1904 he was 
awarded an open scholarship to St Peter's College (SPSC) which entitled him to three years free tuition. Johnny's 
older brothers had already been outstanding students at SPSC, however they had both moved on to study at 
Adelaide University by the time of Johnny's enrolment.  
 
Jack Moyes married again in 1904 to Nellie Le Lievre and two years later Johnny's half-brother, Owen Arnold Philip 
Moyes, was born in 1906. 

 
1 A Series of Published Biographies provided as Appendices 
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At St Peter's College, like his brothers before him, Johnny participated in all sports including athletics, cricket, 
football and tennis. His wide sporting interests would have been encouraged by his father and brothers and who 
were all keen sportsmen.  

Education and Sport at St Peter's College 
Johnny Moyes attended St Peter's College from 1905 until 1911. He received his Primary Examination Certificate in 
19052 passing English (Grammar, Composition and Dictation), Arithmetic, English History and Algebra. 
 
In  the 1907/08 cricket season, not yet a regular in the senior college teams, 14-year-old Johnny played for St Marks 
in the United Church Association competition on weekends, scoring 33 not out on one occasion. 
 

 
 

Both of Johnny's older brothers, John Stoward Moyes and Morton Moyse, played cricket at St Peter's College and 
after leaving school were members of the East Torrens B Grade team. In the 1906/07 season John S. was promoted 
to A Grade after scoring a century in the B Grade. John Stoward Moyse became a Church of England Clergyman and 
later had a long successful career playing in the local United Church competition and at Port Pirie, before returning in 
the East Torrens Norwood Oval Team in the early 1920s. Occasionally, he also played in matches with St Peter's Old 
Collegians. Morton Moyse also played for the old scholars against a school first X1 team in a match which included 
Johnny. No doubt their father and his older brothers would have been a great influence on Johnny's development as 
a cricketer. 
 

By the start of the 1908/09 cricket season, 15-year-old Johnny Moyes was proving himself to be an exceptionally 
good cricketer and was now an established member of the St Peter's College 1st X1 Team which played in the SACA B 
Grade competition.  

 

 
 (Photo – Courtesy of St Peter’s College, Adelaide) 

 
2 equivalent of completing Grade 7 today and prerequisite to commence secondary education 
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In December 1908, Johnny was selected for his first intercollegiate cricket match against Prince Alfred College, and 
despite the Saint Peter's College team being thrashed, young Johnny Moyes performed quite creditably. In SPSC's 
first innings he was the only batsman to reach double figures, top scoring with 31 runs and in the second innings he 
scored 15. Bowling medium-pace he claimed two wickets in PAC's first innings and one in their second innings. His 
victims were PAC's Ken Steele and Don Steele (twice) both of whom remarkably would later be team-mates at 
Adelaide University and with South Australia. 
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In the Senior Public Examinations3 at the end of 1908 Johnny demonstrated that he was also a good student by 
finishing 36th in the general honours list, passing seven subjects. 
 

St Peter’s College – Sixth Form - 1908 

 
 

Standing : HF Moore, DB Ross, EE Stuckley, IB Jose, J Varley, CH Williams, NF Wastell, R Badger, EER Porter, HO Robertson, HE Moody, JT Creswell 
Seated : AG Moyes, DE Lindsay, John H Hall, Oscar S Symon, GA McMillan, Tom B Taylor, CH Wallmann, RH Marten, KB Goode 
Front : AS Blackburn, L White, AW Morey, JN Webb, AM Moulden, F Caddy (Photo – Courtesy of St Peter’s College, Adelaide) 

 

In 1909, Johnny was reported to have been scoring well for St Peter's College in the SACA B Grade competition and 
in the 1909 Intercollegiate Cricket match against Prince Alfred College his "first rate hitting" resulted in a quick 51 

runs.  He also opened the bowling taking 4 for 48 to help Saints to a comfortable victory. 
 

 

 
3 Equivalent of Leaving / Year 11 
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Following on from their intercollegiate victory against Prince Alfred College, the team went on to take out the SACA 

B Grade Premiership for the 1909/10 season. Remarkably 17-year-old Johnny Moyes headed the team averages for 

both batting (also SACA award) and bowling. 
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During his years at St Peter's College, Johnny was also a member of the School Cadets and in April 1910 was 
promoted to Lieutenant (on probation). The same year, he also showed his versatility in sport as captain of the 
intercollegiate tennis team. Over his last two years at SPSC, he had grown significantly to be nearly six foot tall and 
was now also a member of the SPSC 1st XVIII football team. 
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St Peter's College defeated Prince Alfred College again in the 1910 Intercollegiate cricket match with Johnny taking 4 

wickets for 48 runs in the PAC first innings, however he did not have any success with the bat. 

 

At the end of the 1910 school year, Johnny sat for his Higher Public Examinations4 and passed in four of the five 

compulsory subjects (Latin, French, German and Pure Mathematics).  

 

 
4 Equivalent of Leaving Honours / Year 12 
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Johnny stayed on at SPSC in 1911 for an additional year and in November, Johnny passed Inorganic Chemistry. This 

subject was conducted by the Science Faculty at Adelaide University and was required for him to complete the 

compulsory five subjects for the Higher Public Examinations Certificate for admission to Adelaide University. 

In 1911, Johnny was captain of the 1st XI and in the Intercollegiate contest against PAC, he top scored with 72 and 

took four wickets in PAC's 2nd innings to help SPSC to another outright win. 
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The following week St Peter's College played Melbourne Grammar in Melbourne. Johnny's 135 runs with 14 fours 

and two sixes were described as a “brilliant innings”. 

 

In December 1911 it was reported that Johnny would be going to Adelaide University and be able to finish the 

1911/12 cricket season with the University Club.  
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Adelaide University 
In 1912, after enrolling as a student in the Science Faculty, he was now qualified to play for the Adelaide University 
Cricket Club in the A Grade SACA Premiership Competition. He was able to play the last few matches of the 1911/12 
season.  

 

Johnny was immediately selected in the University A Grade side and it was not long before he made his mark by 

scoring a big hundred (180) against a strong East Torrens on March 16th, 1912. He would have impressed opposition 

players including experienced State and International player Edgar "Ernie" Mayne and, former English Test Cricketer 

Jack Crawford, who had recently been recruited to play for South Australia. After arriving in December 1909, 

Crawford secured a teaching position at St Peter's College and this also involved supervision of sports, including 

coaching the cricket team.  He would have had some impact on Johnny's development as a cricketer who was 

already a member of the 1st X1 Cricket Team from 1908.  
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During the winter of 1912, instead of football, Johnny chose to play baseball for the Adelaide Baseball Club which 

included many well-known cricketers. This of course would have improved his fielding skills leading up to next cricket 

season. He became a strong advocate for cricketers to play baseball. 

      

 

Club and First-Class Cricket 
Based on his record at St Peter's College and after only three matches in A Grade Cricket with University, Johnny was 

included in the State practice squad for the following season and then was chosen to play a first-class match against 

Western Australia in early November 1912. This was prior to the start of the Sheffield Shield contests against New 

South Wales in December and Victoria commencing in December. He made a century on debut in the first innings 

against WA. 

                



[Type here] 
 

 



[Type here] 
 

Remarkably after scoring a century in even time against Western Australia, he then followed with 158 for University 

later in November, leaving little doubt that he  would be selected to play in the first Sheffield Shield match of the 

1912/13 season against New South Wales, starting  on the 20th December 1912 at Adelaide Oval.  

 

Johnny, as predicted, was chosen in the State team to play NSW. Batting at number four, he managed a creditable 64 

(run out)  with his 50 coming in only 65 minutes.  In South Australia's mammoth first innings score of 569, future 

AUCC team mate Donald Steele, who was still a student at Prince Alfred College, scored 113 not out. Remarkably he 

had already made his first-class debut in January of the previous season. South Australia defeated the NSW side, 

which included Victor Trumper, comfortably by an innings and 53 runs. 
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In December 1912 Johnny received advice that he had passed his Physics examination at the University.  

In the New Year he was included in the South Australian team to tour the eastern states. In the match against 

Victoria, which SA won, Johnny did not have any success with the bat, but took a couple of wickets ( 11, 3 and 2 

wickets for 23).  

In the following match at the Sydney Cricket Ground, the South Australian attack was thrashed by McCartney (125) 

and a revengeful Trumper (201 no) in NSW's first innings of 513 runs. SA was never really in the game despite a 

century by Clem Hill in SA's first innings of 331. Chasing 497 runs, some improved batting by the upper order in the 

second innings, did give SA a very faint hope of victory. After a duck in the first innings Johnny did well in the second 
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innings against with a dashing 95. He and Gordon Campbell put on 125 in 80 minutes for the 7th wicket which gave 

them a slim chance of overcoming NSW's huge two innings tally. Unfortunately, they still fell 84 runs short. 

Shortly after returning from NSW, Johnny was reported in early February to be visiting Terowie, a vibrant little 

railway town, in the mid-north of South Australia. While staying there he found time to play for the local team 

against the Burra Ramblers. He made 100 retired and took 3 wickets.  

                            

Later in February 1913, Johnny was pleased to be invited to play for "The Rest of Australia" against New South Wales 

in Victor Trumper's testimonial match at the Sydney Cricket Ground. Having just turned 20 years of age the previous 

month and considering this was just his first season of first-class cricket, it shows that he was considered one of the 

most promising young players in Australia. 
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Despite the loss to NSW in January, South Australia, with the earlier wins against NSW and Victoria, meant they were 

able to win the Sheffield Shield if they defeated Victoria in the return match at Adelaide Oval starting on 1st March 

1913 

South Australia won the match comfortably, and in doing so took out their 3rd Sheffield Shield, thanks mainly to Jack 

Crawford's outstanding 1st innings performances of 163 runs and 8 wickets for 66.  

 

Johnny made only 19 and 17, however for the team to win the Sheffield Shield in his first season would have been a 

great thrill and the start of the 1913/14 season probably would have not come quick enough.  



[Type here] 
 

With 209 runs from his 7 innings at an average of nearly 30 and a couple of wickets, was a fine effort and he should 

have been better for the experience. 

 

 

Courtesy State Library of SA 
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The cricket journalists in several States were in high praise of both of Adelaide University's State representatives, 

Don Steele and Johnny Moyes. 

 

For Adelaide University, because of his State Team commitments, Johnny had only six innings for 275 runs and 

picked up a handy 11 wickets. The team finished sixth in the eight-team competition but probably was only one win 

short of fourth place. 
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It was common for SACA District teams to visit country areas at the end of the season and during the Easter holidays 

in 1913 Johnny was a member of the AUCC touring party that played matches at Angaston and Gawler. 

  

In the winter of 1913, Johnny played Baseball again for the Adelaide team and his skill at the game was shown when 
he was chosen to play in an exhibition game featuring the best players in the State. 

 

 
 
There were high hopes for the University team at the start of the 1913/14 cricket season. The influx of Johnny 
Moyes, Don Steele and Clarrie "Nip" Pellew over the last two seasons had given the team the backbone of three fine 
batsmen. Johnny was also taking on an off-field role with the Club and was representing the AUCC  along with Ken 
Steele on the SACA Committee. Johnny was also keen to see the Club play a triangular contest against Sydney and 
Melbourne University in early 1914.  
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The District Cricket season began moderately well for University with three wins (one outright), a draw and  two 

losses before the Christmas break. This left University in third place on the premiership table.  Johnny was 

establishing himself as a fine all-rounder and after some fine bowling performance was heading the SACA District 

Cricket bowling averages after the first 5 games.  Although he had not struck form with the bat, having only a top 

score of 45, he was still 6th on the SACA District batting averages.  His bowling figures had been boosted following 

University's outright win was against Sturt at University Oval. On a rain affected wicket, Johnny had the remarkable 

bowling figures of 5 wickets for 1 run including 4 wickets in an over.  Incredibly Sturt were dismissed for 8 runs in 

their 2nd innings which is the lowest score ever recorded in SACA A Grade cricket history. 

 

       



[Type here] 
 

University had four players selected to make the eastern states tour to play New South Wales and Victoria in the first 

two Sheffield Shield matches of the 1913/14 season. Included were batsman Don Steele and his older brother Ken, 

who was University's opening bowler, young St Peter's College star batsman Nip Pellew and Johnny Moyes.  

  

 

In December 1913, South Australia defeated New South Wales at the SCG, with Johnny contributing  a valuable 41 in 

SA's 2nd innings. In the match against Victoria, he scored an attractive 53 in the first innings, however the home side 

chased down 353 to defeat South Australians outright after trailing on the first innings. Late in December, Johnny 

was advised that he had passed English, a Senior Public Exam subject, which was not part of his science course, so he 

had done this subject privately. It would later serve him well later, as a journalist and author. 

In early January 1914, New South Wales played South Australia in Adelaide. It was a match where a win was vital for 

SA's chances of retaining the Sheffield Shield. Unfortunately, the visitors trounced the home side with Johnny scoring  

only 21 and 11.  
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The touring New Zealand team played South Australia the week after the loss to NSW, however Johnny was 

unavailable. It was reported that he had previously arranged to travel home to Port Augusta5. It was perhaps a 

missed opportunity to find some form after having only had a modest  season and District Cricket would be resuming 

on the 24th January. Hurtle Willsmore, a University team mate was given an opportunity to play his first game for SA 

in Johnny’s place of. 

Johnny did not line up for University in the match against East Torrens when the District competition resumed. They 

were also missing the Steele brothers and Taylor, all who were all on holidays. It was not unusual for the University 

team to have players unavailable during the University vacation. The University team without its star players, made a 

creditable 304 runs, but East Torrens won comfortably amassing 460 with "Ernie" Mayne scoring 254 not out. Ken 

Steele and Johnny's bowling was sorely missed. With seven rounds of matches now completed, the loss would make 

it harder for University to finish higher on the premiership table than last season. 

Somewhat mysteriously, Johnny was also unavailable for University in the following two matches and it may have 

been that he had been unwell. A later newspaper report indicated that he had suffered some "indisposition" earlier 

in the year.  

In Round 8 University lost to North Adelaide and then had a narrow loss to East Torrens in Round 9. Remarkably 

even after these two losses the team was still hanging on to fourth spot with only the three wins for the season. 

After the earlier loss to Victoria in Melbourne in December 1913 and the loss to NSW in early January, South 

Australia and Victoria played the return Sheffield Shield fixture in mid-February 1914 at Adelaide Oval. South 

Australia would need to defeat Victoria to even the ledger. Despite not playing any District games over the last 

month, Johnny was still selected in the South Australian team along with University team mates Nip Pellew and  

Hurtle Willsmore. South Australia defeated the Victorians, largely due to Clem Hill's century in the 1st innings, Jack 

Crawford's 11 wickets for the match and handy contributions by other players. Moyes scored a useful 41 in the first 

innings and 31 in the second innings. Unfortunately, despite this win, New South Wales was awarded the Sheffield 
 

5 This may have been reported incorrectly, as at the time his parents were living at Port Pirie where his father was now the headmaster. 
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Shield based on a quotient of runs scored and wickets taken during the season. This system was used when teams 

had the same number of wins. 

 

The mystery of Johnny's non appearances for University in January and February was heightened when he was 

reported to be staying in the mid-north town of Terowie where he turned out for the local team again and scored 

89. The local press referred to his absence as a "sojourn in the country". 
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Johnny finally returned from Terowie for University’s mid-March Round 10 clash against Adelaide. His belated return 

to the University team produced only 11 runs and 2 wickets for 55. University lost for the second time in the season 

to Adelaide and slipped to 6th position on the premiership table. 

A good win against West Torrens in the final match of the season saw University finish 5th out of the 8 teams.  

Johnny finished off a disappointing year with the bat scoring only 16 in the match but picked up two wickets giving 

him 18 wickets for the season.  

 

At the end of the season University hosted a combined team from the north of South Australia. Following that match 

they again played matches in Angaston and Gawler over the Easter weekend. 
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Johnny was improving his level of fitness during the winter of 1914 and continued to play at first base with the 

Adelaide Baseball team. Surprisingly, after not having played since his days at St Peter's College, he also decided to 

play football with the Adelaide University Football Club. 

 

In a twist of fate, the Adelaide University Football Club and the Adelaide Baseball Club made the grand-final that 

year and both matches were scheduled to be played on the afternoon of 19 Sept 1914. It would have been a difficult 

decision for Johnny to make, but he chose to play in the baseball final. Adelaide won the baseball and University lost 

the football premiership match to Semaphore Centrals. 
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At the end of the cricket season and during the winter months there had been a lot of discussion about the possible 

selection of Johnny Moyes in the Australian cricket team to tour South Africa. It eventuated that four South 

Australians were selected including Johnny and former University wicketkeeper Gordon Campbell. 
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The tour of South Africa was to last  five and a half months with twenty matches, including five Tests. These were 
scheduled for Durban, Cape Town and three matches in Johannesburg.  All the travelling arrangements for the 
players were in place.  

However, with war clouds gathering in Europe, the South African Cricket Association sent a cable on 13 August 1914 
to the Australian Cricket Board of Control, advising that the tour needed to be pushed back in expectation that “the 
fuss in Europe” would be over quickly. Of course, this tour was never going to happen, as Australia soon committed 
its men in support of Britain and ultimately the conflict would last five years. 

 

The South Australian Cricket Association, after serious discussion and consideration, decided that the 1914/15 
District Cricket Season should go ahead. Several University players had already enlisted to serve with the Australian 
Imperial Force and were already in Camp undergoing training in preparation for overseas service. They were, 
however, able to get leave on most weekends to play their sport. Perhaps of lesser concern, was a critical water 
shortage, which affected the early preparation of wickets, causing a delay to the start of the season. 

 

The Adelaide University Cricket Club as usual held its AGM in September with Johnny being elected as Club Secretary 
and again a delegate to the SACA. 

 

    

When the local cricket season did eventually get underway on the 17th October 1914, Johnny was in much better 

condition than last season and struck form immediately and would continue that form with bat and ball throughout 

the District and Sheffield Shield season.  University had three wins in the first four rounds and then in the fifth round 

which concluded in early January 1915 they had to forfeit to Glenelg. This was due to unavailablity of players due to 

the University vacation and some could not get leave from the A.I.F. Camp.  Despite this the team was still in a 

position to press for the premiership with a good finish to the season. 
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Johnny's study at University towards a science degree had been perhaps of secondary importance to his sporting 

activities. To this stage after three years at University he had only the equivalent of passes in first year Inorganic 

Chemistry, Physics and Organic Chemistry, the later having completed in the November 1914 examinations. 

 

In the following match unavailability was still a problem with University missing five of their best players and a loss 

to top side East Torrens was not suprising.  Johnny was reported to be staying on a "station" in NSW after 

completion of the interstate match against Victoria and was also due to play in the match in Sydney the following 

week. 

 

Johnny was available again after the end of the Sheffield Shield season and in the return match against Glenelg made 

his highest score of the season with 146 runs. 
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Coming to the last match of the season there were still issues with water supplies and there were doubts whether a 

pitch could be prepared at University Oval. A supply was found and the match against West Torrens went ahead on 

the home ground. In that match Johnny managed only 7 runs and 1 wicket in a loss to a West Torrens side that also 

had a poor season. 

 

The loss in the last match against West Torrens saw University finish in sixth position which concluded another 

disappointing year. Unavailability of State players in January and February and with some taking vacations did not 

improve their chances. 

"CRICKET SEASON CLOSED." 
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South Australia had a poor season in the Sheffield Shield competition in 1914/15. The all-round talents of Jack 

Crawford were sorely missed after he relinquished his contract with the SACA and moved New Zealand. He had 

toured Australia with the English team in 1907/08 and then decided to come to South Australia late in 1909 after a 

dispute with the Surrey County Cricket Club. He proved himself to be one of the finest all-rounders to play for the 

State. 

On arrival Crawford had played District Cricket with East Torrens and was included in the last three Sheffield Shield 

matches of the 1909/10 season and assisted South Australia to take out the Sheffield Shield. His performances in the 

1913/14 season were also a large factor in South Australia winning the Shield again. In his time with South Australia, 

Crawford played 22 matches scoring 1,512 runs at an average of 40.86 and took 120 wickets at 23.86.  

Johnny Moyes did not have a good 1914/15 season for South Australia scoring only 142 runs at 17.75 with a top 

score of 61. He managed to take only 1 wicket from 25 overs. 
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During the winter months of 1915 under the clouds of War in Europe, Johnny continued playing both Baseball and 

Football. The Adelaide University football team he got off to a good start with a victory against Johnny’s old school 

with Johnny being in the best players with 6 goals. Even though he had enlisted in the AIF by mid-July, as did many of 

his team mates, he was able to get leave. The Amateur League competition continued to the completion of the 

season. University had a successful year led by Nip Pellew, only to lose to Semaphore Centrals in the semi-final. 

               

Johnny also found time again to play baseball with the Adelaide Club, however with many of their players now 

serving in the AIF, they were less of a force in the 1915 season. 

  

World War I  
With Australia now having sent additional reinforcements overseas following the disastrous Gallipoli campaign, it 

was a discussion point during the winter months whether the 1915/16 cricket season would go ahead. Early in the 

piece, New South Wales and Victoria were suggesting that the Sheffield Shield competition would be called off. 
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It was soon clear that the Sheffield Shield competition had to be abandoned, however the SACA after much debate 

decided that it would be important for the local district competition to continue in some form for the 1915/16 

season. Although many players had already embarked to serve overseas, it was considered good for morale, in 

uncertain times, for those still available (able to get leave from Camp) to continue to play their club sport if they 

could. Also, a consideration was that many of the younger players (including those still at school or university) were 

still not old enough to enlist or would be required to complete their courses, particularly those doing medicine.  

Johnny had enlisted at the Keswick Barracks and undergone his medical examination at the Mitcham Camp on 13th 

July 1915. At an athletic 6ft tall (183cm) and 163lbs (74kg), he was accepted for service overseas with the Australian 

Imperial Forces. 

The Adelaide University Cricket Club as usual held their AGM in September, but with Johnny having already enlisted 

and in camp, undergoing officer training, he had resigned as the Club secretary. The Adelaide University Team were 

to have at least nine A Grade players from the previous year having already enlisted or would during the 1915/16 

season. 

 

Having reached the rank of Lieutenant in the Cadets at St Peter's College Cadets, Johnny was initially sent to NCO 

(Non-commissioned Officer) School which he completed with the rank of Sergeant. Having showed leadership 

qualities, he was then sent on immediately to Officer Training School and by September had passed all the 

examinations. He was commissioned as an officer with the rank of 2nd Lieutenant and was soon to be allocated to a 

Unit. 
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The cricket season was underway on the 9th October 1915 with University at home playing Glenelg. Naturally Johnny 

being in Camp would have had little opportunity for practice and it showed with him getting out for a duck on the 

second ball he faced and not taking a wicket. It was reported that he had been suffering from influenza.  

 

University still won comfortably, with former PAC student Howard Rayner, scoring 167 (24 fours and 3 sixes). Rayner 

would be announced as winner of the Rhodes Scholarship in December 1915. 

Johnny returned to form the following match when he and Willsmore routed the weakened North Adelaide team for 

only 24 runs (2 players absent) in the 1st innings. He then opened the batting with Rayner who again was in good 

form scoring 82 along with Johnny's 73. In his usual attacking fashion, Johnny had scored his tally while Rayner had 

only contributed 11. University won the match outright with Johnny taking 5 wickets for 30 runs in North Adelaide's 

2nd innings. 

The third match against Port Adelaide required the team to catch the 1.35pm train from Adelaide Railway Station to 

Alberton Oval. It appeared that most of the University players who had enlisted and in Camp were able to get leave. 

 

The game against Port Adelaide would be Johnny's last game for the 1915/16 season due to his increased AIF 

Commitments. Although University lost, he top scored with 68. This would also be his last game for the Adelaide 

University Cricket Club. Without the war-time interruption of his sporting career and university studies and 

cancellation of the tour of South Africa, at just 23 years of age one can only speculate what the future may have 

held. 

War Service 
Johnny embarked on the 11th January 1916 aboard the HMAT A30 "Borda" for service in Europe.  Just prior to his 

departure, on New Year's Day his engagement was announced to Freda Christensen who had earlier come to 

Adelaide from New South Wales. Like Johnny, she had an association with the Roach family in Terowie, but it is 

unclear how and when they had met. It could, however, explain Johnny’s visits to the mid-north town.  
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Alban George "Johnny" Moyes' WW1 Record of Service 

 

Second Lieutenant Alban George "Johnny" Moyse on passage from Australia to Europe with the 48th Battalion, 

disembarked in Egypt in February 1916. It was the common practice to spend time there to undergo further training 

in preparation for future deployment to the battlefields of France. The training Camp was located at Tel el Kebir 

which was located on the southern side ("sweet side") of the Suez Canal. In April 1916 Johnny was hospitalised for a 

week with severe diarrhoea.  
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The 48th Battalion was mobilised after the period of training in Egypt and arrived in England in early July. After a 
short stay at the Rollestone Camp in Wiltshire, the troops were deployed to France on 21 July 1916. Johnny was in 
France on the Western Front from 31 July 1916 and was promoted to Lieutenant in the field. After less than two 
weeks of action he suffered a gunshot wound to the knee at Pozières on 11 August 1916 and was hospitalised and 
repatriated back to England for treatment and rehabilitation. While in England and having regained some of his 
fitness, Johnny played in an A.I.F. cricket match which raised funds for a hospital for blind soldiers. 
 

 
 
Johnny was back in France by 1 November 1916 and was promoted to the rank of Captain. Less than two weeks later 
an attack of influenza had him back in hospital in London. A severe lung infection followed, requiring several months 
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of treatment and recuperation. He was able to return to France in February 1917 and was reunited with his Unit on 
16 March 1917.  
 
By 13 April 1917, he was back at the front lines and during the First Battle of Bullecourt, Johnny was one of the 435 
casualties suffered by the 48th Battalion when he was shot in the thigh. After another period of hospitalisation and 
convalescence in England, he was back in the field by 3rd  August 1917 and shortly after his return he was promoted 
to be a Temporary Major. With such a high casualty rates, promotions were common but not without merit. He then 
remained with his Battalion, apart from a period of leave in December 1917, until June 1918.  The 48th Battalion had 
been withdrawn during the early months of the European winter of 1917, but it then proceeded to Belgium in 
January 1918 where it played an important defensive role near Dernancourt during the German's Spring Offensive. 
Johnny was awarded the Military Cross in June 1918 for his outstanding leadership during the five-month period 
October 1917 - February 1918.  
 
It is hard to fully imagine all that Johnny went through during his time in France and Belgium and apart from his own 
battle scars, Johnny would have known many of those who were killed in action or seriously wounded. This would 
have included some of his St Peter's College and Adelaide University football and cricketing teammates, some of 
whom paid the ultimate sacrifice! 
 

Service & Casualty Form  - Major Alban George Moyes  48th Battalion 
These Service and Casualty Forms show that Johnny was twice wounded. He suffered a shrapnel wound to the left 

knee at Pozieres in August 1916 and then at the disastrous First Battle of Bullecourt in April 1917 he received a 

gunshot wound to the right thigh. It was later reported that these wounds restricted his ability to continue to play 

longer forms of cricket because any extended length of time in the field resulted in considerable discomfort.  
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Military Cross Citation Details  
'For conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty. He successfully led his company through extremely heavy enemy 
barrage to the relief of a battalion, which he accomplished with very few casualties, afterwards organizing the 
defence with great skill, and greatly influencing his men by his personal example and courage. He displayed great 
resource and ability in keeping up communications with his headquarters, even under the heaviest barrage, and he 
contributed largely to the successful holding of the line by his battalion.'  
 

Source: 'Commonwealth of Australia Gazette' No. 173 - Date: 7th November 1918 
 

 

Military Cricket Matches 
 
There had been the occasional opportunity for Johnny to play in some cricket matches in England during his periods 
of convalescence.  Shortly after being awarded the Military Cross he was promoted to Major and while on leave in 
England during July 1918, Johnny was invited to play a cricket match with the "Dominions" team against a combined 
England Servicemen's side at Lords. In September1918 a respiratory infection resulted in a case of pleurisy and 
admission to hospital again, but he recovered in time to play in a second match at the Oval in November. Many of 
the Australians including his Adelaide University teammate Nip Pellew and future one in Sydney, Charlie Macartney, 
would stay on after the War and join the Australian Services Team that would tour England and then South Africa on 
their way home.  
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Shortly after the Armistice, the MCC contacted the Australian Cricket Board of Control regarding a possible 
Australian Services Team tour of England and mentioned Johnny as a prospective team member. He decided not to 
join the team.  

 
 
After his release from the 3rd Australian General Hospital (London) in mid-October, he was the repatriated because 
of his poor health, back to Australia, embarking on 8th November 1918. He would soon be reunited with his family 
and fiancée waiting at home. 
 

Post WW1 
After arriving back in Australia on 29th December 1918, Johnny made a brief visit to Sydney for his brother Morton's 

wedding. Johnny’s stop-over in Sydney did not go un-noticed with the resumption of cricket being keenly awaited. 

Shortly after his brother's wedding it was reported that Johnny would be not returning to South Australia and would 

be moving to Victoria.  

               

The motivation for the move to Victoria and not continue his studies at Adelaide University6 are not clear, but no 

doubt during the War, Johnny would have on occasions pondered over his future if he survived the conflict. It was 

reported that he would settle on a property at a Pakenham apple orchard 25 miles from Melbourne.  

 
6  Johnny had only been enrolled in the science faculty and not medicine. It may have been that initially his objective was to 

eventually gain entry into medicine, however his cricket career and enlistment would have derailed that plan. 
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After a quick trip to Adelaide in late January 1919 to collect his belongings, Johnny headed to Victoria. It had been 

reported that he had decided to play with friends, Warwick Armstrong and Vernon Ransford at the Melbourne 

Cricket Club.  

 

By 8th February 1919 Johnny was back playing cricket with the Melbourne Cricket Club. In his first innings, he was 

dismissed by Clarrie Grimmett after scoring a quick fire 48 against South Melbourne. Grimmett had moved to Sydney 

from New Zealand in 1914 and after three years moved to Victoria to play with South Melbourne. This was prior to 

his move to South Australia in 1924. 
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Johnny, now 26 years of age, had left his fiancée "Freda"  back in Australia for the course of WW1. She now joined 

him in Victoria and on 28 June 1919, he married 30-year-old Frederica Sophia Honor Christensen at St Paul's Anglican 

Church, Fairfield Victoria.  

  

After their marriage the couple moved into a home in the Essendon area and therefore Johnny became residentially 

bound to play with the Essendon Cricket Club for the 1919/20 season. His reputation, particularly his leadership 

qualities, was recognised and he was elected A -Grade captain in his first year at the club. 

          



[Type here] 
 

Johnny was also selected to captain a Victorian 2nd X1 team to play Tasmania in Launceston later in January 1920.   

 

After a slow start in his first season with Essendon, he started to show some form in the New Year and in late 

January made a fine century against South Melbourne. Johnny was chosen in the Victorian team to play against 

South Australia in Adelaide at the end of February. In that match he scored 55 in the 1st innings.  

Just before the start of the next cricket season Johnny and Freda welcomed their first child, a boy (John Frederick), 

on 19th September 1920. 

Despite a modest 1919/20 season for Essendon in district cricket, it was anticipated Johnny would have better form 

in the coming season, having had an extra 12 months to recover from his War injuries.  

 

An earlier than usual start to the Sheffield Shield matches in the 1920/21 season meant Johnny had little chance to 

show form to press for selection in the Victorian team. He was considered a class above many of the other suitors 

and therefore still a chance for State selection. His attacking batting was highly rated by newspaper journalists who 

were calling for attractive cricket to be played. Johnny was selected in the squad to play South Australia in Adelaide 

in late October 1920 but was made 12th man and did not get an opportunity to play against his former State. 

A week later after the conclusion of the match in Adelaide, Johnny was called into the Victorian side to play against 

the touring England team when captain Warwick Armstrong was unavailable due to illness. Former South Australian 

and East Torrens player Edgar "Ernie" Mayne who had moved from South Australia to Victoria after the War, took 

over the captaincy of the Victorian State team in Armstrong's absence.  

Batting first against the powerful England X1, Victoria made a poor start. The middle order built up a respectable 

tally of 274 and Johnny batting at number seven contributing 19 runs. Worse was to come when Victoria collapsed 

to be all out for 85 in their second innings giving a total which was still well short of England's 1st Innings of 3 wickets 

for 418. Johnny made a duck in the 2nd innings, but certainly was not the only batsman to fail in both innings. 
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Johnny Moyes (centre) poses with fellow players L. Mullett (left) and A McDonald (right) 

Johnny returned to form in early 1921 with a double century scoring 208 (retired) in 210 minutes. Scoring at even 

time or better was always one of the hallmarks of his batting when in form.  

 

Johnny's return to form was obviously noted and he was invited to tour New Zealand with an Australian 2nd X1, he 

had to advise the selectors that he would be unavailable because of business commitments in Sydney. 
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At the start of the 1921/22 season Johnny was elected to the Victorian Cricket Association Committee as a 

representative of the Essendon Cricket Club and was later elevated to the VCA Executive Committee. He was 

Essendon's captain again for his third season.   

The early matches in 1921/22 were disrupted by wet weather, which made it impossible to gauge players form and 

in December 1921 Johnny played in an Interstate trial match which was to assist the selection of the Victorian State 

team. Scoring 47 runs in 37 minutes he "executed some excellent strokes".  

In December 1921 Johnny, acting both as captain and team manager, took a Victorian 2nd X1 team to Sydney. 

               

Early in 1922, Johnny and Freda announced that they would be moving to New South Wales. After working with the 

Repatriation Department for 3 years, Johnny advised that he had secured a position in Sydney. 

     

In his last two games with Essendon in January 1922 he scored parting centuries. Against St Kilda Johnny played a 

"beautiful innings" of 140, reaching his hundred in only 90 minutes. The following match against North Melbourne 

he scored 130 runs in 105 minutes. In typical Moyes fashion he had scored his runs in better than even time and 

Johnny, having only just turned 29, was now in the form of his life and clearly could have still played more first-class 

cricket. 



[Type here] 
 

 

At the end of January, Johnny captained a Victorian 2nd X1 side against a New South Wales 2nd X1 team in 

Melbourne. The team included a few “Promising Victorian Colts” including three with the names, Grimmett, 

Woodfull and Ponsford. 
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Johnny Moyes had made quite an impact in his three short years in Victoria, in particular his contribution to the 

Essendon Cricket Club.  

 

At a “smoke concert” given in the Essendon Club’s pavilion, Johnny was given a “great send-off”. It was the opinion 

of some at the function, that they would see him back in Victoria as a member of the NSW cricket team before long. 

Johnny was presented with the bat that he scored his last two centuries with and a silver rose bowl as a token of the 

club’s appreciation. 
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On arriving in Sydney, the Moyes family initially moved in with Freda's mother at her home at Rosevale. Along with 

Johnny's decision to move to Sydney for employment, Freda would also be closer to her mother, who was on her 

own after Freda’s father had died two years earlier.  

 Johnny was quick to join the Gordon Cricket Club where his war-time mate, Charley Macartney, played. It also was 

Victor Trumper's old club, who sadly had died from a kidney disease in 1915 at only 37 years of age. Previously, while 

in Sydney on one occasion before the War, Johnny had played in a single match for Gordon at the invitation of the 

great Australian batsman. Victor's younger brothers Charles and Sid were also playing for Gordon and be teammates 

of Johnny during his time with the club. 

After a failure in his first match with Gordon in February 1922, Johnny followed up with 62 runs in 35 minutes 

against St George.  

 

The innings against St George heralded that Johnny was still in good touch, but no one could have anticipated what 

was to follow. He would become a Sydney sensation! 
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Johnny's feat had his innings compared with some of the great Victor Trumper's run fests and the newspapers ran 

multiple features about the innings and his background. Johnny very quickly had made his name well known in 

Sydney's sporting community. His opening partnership of 263 with Joe Taylor (scoring only 58) remains the highest 

1st wicket partnership for any grade in the history of the Gordon Cricket Club. At 29 years of age many considered 

Johnny would make the NSW side next season.  
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Johnny and Freda were blessed with their second child early in the off season, when their second son, Allan George 

Moyes, who was born on 3rd May 1922. His birth place was registered as Essendon, so the family must have 

temporarily returned to their former home in Victoria. 

Journalism 
When the family moved back to NSW, Johnny commenced part-time work as a journalist. He was to be the Sydney 

correspondent for Melbourne's Sporting Globe. His role was to report on a variety of sports and Johnny's first article 

was on the interstate baseball series held in Melbourne in August 1922. This of course was a sport which Johnny had 

a good understanding of, as it was a sport which he excelled at before the War in South Australia. It would be his 

knowledgeable reporting and opinions on cricket that he would excel at in the future. During the cricket season he 

would report on all Sydney grade cricket, State and International games as well as discussing various matters of 

interest relating to administration of the game. 

 

The 1922/23 Season was full of hope for Charlie Macartney's Gordon side and expectations that Johnny would 

continue with his exceptional batting form of late last season. Johnny started with a preseason country trip to West 

Maitland with a strong combined side .  
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The Gordon team, despite winning 9 games with one outright and playing off for the premiership, the season did not 

end well. Losing to Dr Poidevin's Waverley team on a rain affected wicket Johnny only scored a single in both innings 

of the final.   He had only a meagre season, scoring just 239 runs at an average of 17 with a top score of 66. His form 

obviously did not warrant selection for NSW. 

Johnny started the 1923/24 Season for Gordon in much better touch, scoring 63 runs in his first innings. In a 

partnership with Charlie Mccartney, they contributed some "merry hitting" which added 140 runs in about 50 

minutes.  

 

Reminiscent of his swashbuckling innings in his first season with Gordon, Johnny's "Hurricane Hitting" knocked up 

174 runs in 90 minutes in November 1923. The innings included 9 sixes and 22 fours. 

 

Gordon went on to take out the premiership in April 1924, and the Club Championship over all grades in the Sydney 

competition. With Charley Macartney the regular skipper, often away on interstate duties and an NSW tour of New 

Zealand, Johnny was acting captain for most of the season and of the premiership team. He contributed with 423 

runs at 30.21. Although he rarely bowled these days he did take five wickets in one game. He was also considered 

one of the best slip fielders in the game. 
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The 1924/25 season for Gordon did not reach the same heights as the previous one, with their batting letting them 

down consistently. Johnny's best innings were 70 in the first match of the season against Sydney and 81 (14 fours) in 

the last game against Mosman. 

In 1925/26 Johnny, always willing to assist off the field as well, took over as Secretary of the Gordon Cricket Club at 

the start of the season. In a pre-season trial match Johnny was at his big hitting best and scored 57 runs in a mere 20 

minutes which "drove the crowd frantic" with his last 30 runs coming of just 7 balls. Later in the day he showed his 

versatility taking over wicket-keeping duties from Bert Oldfield, which he had done on some previous occasions 

when the great gloveman was unavailable. 
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In the first round of district matches, typical of his inconsistent performances throughout his career, Johnny failed to 

trouble the scorers. As captain of the side when Macartney was unavailable, Johnny managed only 265 runs for the 

season at 24.09 and Gordon finished in 6th position on the premiership table. On one of the few occasions that 

Johnny had a trundle, he managed to capture 5 wickets for 42 runs, using his experience bowling on a damp wicket 

after his front-line bowlers had bowled poorly. 

In his role as a journalist, Johnny was always prepared to express his own view on most matters and not just present 

the facts. One of his most important opinion pieces appeared in the Sporting Globe in December 1925. It related to 

the lack of a controlling central cricketing authority and the lack of uniformity in playing conditions between the 

State associations. This was not a new issue, but it was an opportune time to raise the matter again. 

 



[Type here] 
 

In March 1926 Johnny was appointed as a delegate to the New South Wales Cricket Association. Remarkably he had 

now sat on the State Associations Committees in the three States he had played in. It gave him a great perspective of 

how cricket was run in Australia. It would now also give him the opportunity to voice his opinions to those who 

mattered, however it probably would limit his ability to go public in the media on certain controversial matters. 

 

In addition to being Gordon's secretary and its delegate at  the NSW Cricket Association, Johnny, at the start of the 

1926/27 season, was also appointed as an NSW State Selector.  

Although his form last season was not strong, it was inexplicable that Gordon's selectors dropped Johnny from the 

1st Grade team for the first match. He would be selected to play 2nd Grade in the first two games of the season. 

Johnny had played in a pre-season match and in characteristic fashion rattled up 77 runs in 40 minutes. This was 

hard to understand as in his position of State Selector, playing in 1st Grade was essential for him to view the up-and-

coming young talent first hand. If not playing in Gordon's top side he would probably have to consider retiring from 

the game. 

       

As the Club Secretary of Gordon, delegate to the NSWCA and along with his regular employment, he also had to 

consider furthering his journalistic career. Now at 33 years of age and  with two young boys at home, the added 



[Type here] 
 

responsibilities of the role he had taken on as a State selector would now be a limiting factor to his future playing 

career.  

             

After answering the Gordon selectors in the best way possible with runs in 2nd Grade, Johnny was reinstated into 

the 1st Grade team for the third round of matches.  

 

In their role as New South Wales State selectors, it was critical that Johnny and the two other new members (former 

State player, Central Cumberland and Gordon batsman, Harold "Mudgee" Cranney and St George Cricket Club 

stalwart, R. L. "Dick" Jones), search for and encourage new talent to bolster NSW's perceived fading strength at that 

time. Amongst one of the new players that had been identified was the 18-year-old lad from Bowral. Such was his 

reputation in country cricket, the State selectors invited a young Don Bradman to play in a State Trial match of  

"Probables versus Possibles " on 10th November 1926. In the same match was 17-year-old Archie Jackson, playing for 

the "Probables". In the match, Jackson impressed by making 53 retired, but no less impressive was Bradman, who 

made 37 not out for the "Possibles" against the better attack.  
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Two weeks later during the 1926 Country Week Cricket Carnival, Bradman performed creditably with both bat and 

ball for the Country South team. Dick Jones had already invited him to play with the St George 1st Grade cricket 

team on the Saturday, while he was in Sydney for the Country Week Carnival. Bradman made his debut against 

Petersham. Keen to recruit Bradman, St George had offered to pay his expenses to come down each weekend and 

play for the rest of the season. The rest is history! Don made 110 (run out) on the first Saturday against Petersham 

and then took 3 wickets for 26 to clean up the tail the following weekend. On that same Saturday, as Bradman made 

his Sydney Grade cricket debut, Johnny Moyse was also in good form for Gordon, hitting up 59 in 37 minutes. 

Ironically the two reports of their individual performances were in The Catholic Press adjacent to each other. It 

signalled the start of a close association between the two men. 

 

In between the two Saturdays of the St George v Petersham match, the final match of Country Week was held on the 

Monday, when a combined country team played a combined city team. As a State selector Johnny had chosen to 

play himself in the match to witness first hand any of the promising country lads. Johnny did not get much of a 

chance to personally judge the country bowlers as he was out for a duck, but he saw plenty of young Don Bradman's 

willow when he notched up 98 (caught by Moyes in slip). 
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Johnny Moyes was present from the very beginning of Bradman's Sydney Grade Cricket career and was an intimate  

witness to the emergence of the cricketer who would later be recognised as the greatest batsman of all-time. Johnny 

and Dick Jones were acknowledged by Bradman as  playing an important part in his formative years and giving him 

the opportunity to shine. Johnny would become one of Bradman's close friends and confidants. 

It was a certainty that in January 1927, the State selectors would give Bradman his first opportunity in interstate 

cricket and was picked in the NSW 2nd X1 team to play Victoria at the Sydney Cricket Ground. Also in the team was 

Bill O'Reilly who was originally from the country town of Wingello in the Southern NSW Tablelands and had come to 

Sydney to train as a teacher.  

 

After being posted to the Erskineville Government School in the north of the city, O'Reilly had joined the North 

Sydney Cricket Club during the 1926/27 season. In his first match for North Sydney against Gordon, he bowled 

Johnny out. So impressed by O'Reilly's leg breaks, which were bowled at near medium pace, he was immediately 

added to the NSW State Squad.  The previous season when O'Reilly was on vacation from Sydney Teachers' College 

he played for his home town Wingello against Bowral. In their first encounter, Bradman had the better of him 

scoring 234 runs. 

In what was essentially his last season of Sydney Grade Cricket, Johnny finished the 1926/27 season with only 229 

runs at an average of 25.44 from 9 innings with the highest score of 59. Gordon finished 5th on the premiership 

table. As a State selector though, he would have been thrilled to see 17-year-old  Archie Jackson head the Grade 

cricket season aggregate and average (870 runs from 12 innings at 87.00) and 18-year-old Bradman scoring 289  

from just 7 innings at an average of 48.16. 

As Gordon club secretary, Johnny oversaw the amalgamation of the Gordon cricket and baseball clubs which would 

see the winter game also played at the Chatswood Oval. Johnny having played baseball encouraged the Gordon 

cricketers to play baseball in the winter to improve their fielding skills. The Gordon Cricket Club also actively 
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supported the formation of the Gordon Rugby Union Club in 1927, which played their home matches initially at the 

Roseville Chase Oval, but later moved to Chatswood Oval in 1930. 

      

Sadly, in January 1927, Johnny’s father died. His sons’ interest in sport are well explained in his obituaries7. 
 

 
 

John "Jack" Moyes c 1919 

In April 1927 Johnny, now 34 years of age, made a significant career move by joining the Sydney Daily Telegraph 

newspaper as head of the sporting department. As the Sydney correspondent for Melbourne's Sporting Globe since 

1922, he had honed his journalistic skills and now in a full-time capacity would have the opportunity grow his role in 

the media and have greater scope to report on New South Wales and Australian cricket. 

 
7 John “Jack” Moyse - Obituaries provided in the Appendices 
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Having taken on his new position at the start of the winter season, his first article for the Daily Telegraph related to 

baseball, a game that he knew well, and he expressed the view that current cricketers should be playing baseball like 

some of the great cricketers of the past. 
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In Johnny’s new media role, its time constraints would make it difficult for him to play cricket in 1927/28. He also 

announced that he was not seeking re-election as a State Selector after only one season. As head of the sports 

department and reporting on cricket affairs and sometimes dealing with selection controversies, it could have put 

him in a position of conflicting interests.  

 

Johnny would also have to resign as Gordon's Club Secretary and their NSWCA delegate. 

 

One of the issues in New South Wales Cricket at the time was a reaction to the poor performance of the team in the 

Sheffield Shield competition in 1926/27 when they finished a poor third to South Australia and Victoria. A kneejerk 

reaction perhaps, as they had previously won four out of the last seven contests since the end of WW1. However, 

with the recent retirement of experienced NSW and Australian players Herbie Collins, Johnny Taylor and Charlie 

Macartney, along with aging players Jack Gregory and Charlie Kellaway, there was perhaps reason for concern. As 

the 1927/28 season progressed, the concern was realised with NSW only finishing above the newly admitted 

Queensland team.  

Johnny also understood the difficulty the older NSW State players faced because of the meagre allowances paid to 

them. They were still expected to play for the love of the game at the expense of careers and growing family 

responsibilities. Johnny predicted a future where cricketers would be reasonably rewarded for their time away from 

work. However, it would not happen in his lifetime, taking another 50 years and a breakaway from the powerful 

cricket establishment at the hands of a media entrepreneur, before that could happen. 
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The standard of Grade cricket was also being questioned, primarily regarding the development of good young talent 

and opinions on how to make the competition stronger were expressed at various levels. During the winter months 

of 1927 a “Super Grade” competition was conceived. This was to be played on Wednesdays with clubs combining to 

select four teams made up of the best available players. 
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Johnny supported the concept of the Super Grade and promoted it in his column during the 1927/28 season. He also 

made himself available to play as a member of the North Team. It soon became was apparent however, that 

unavailability of players was an issue, so the desired effect of having emerging younger players tested in a stronger 

competition did not happen.  
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During the 1927/28 season, Johnny also found himself entering the world of radio broadcasting for the first time and 

he was giving a full description of play in the NSW v New Zealand match at the SCG on 29th October 1927. 

 

 Johnny was also an advocate of "There are too many 1st  Grade teams in competition". He was prepared to put 

forward arguments to back his point of view. His well thought out ideas were always in the interests of improving 

NSW and Australian cricket.  The development of young players with the ability to play first class cricket and 

potentially for Australia were foremost. Perhaps his and others concerns for NSW cricket faded a little during the 

season, as the names of Jackson, Bradman and O'Reilly became more prominent at the 1st Class level for New South 

Wales. 
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Johnny had played an early season 1st Grade game with Gordon in 1927/8 (not getting a hit but taking two catches).  

He also represented the Northern side in the Super-grade competition and a Gordon/Northern side that played in 

Country week. It appeared however, that because of his growing responsibilities at the Daily Telegraph, his playing 

days at 1st Grade level was at an end. At the Annual General Meeting of the Gordon District Cricket Club in July 

1928, Johnny was recognised for his service to the club and they presented him with an inscribed and framed letter 

of appreciation and a cutlery set.  

At the end of the 1927/28 season, the NSW Cricket Associations backed down on its support for the Super-grade 

competition, so it only lasted one season. This was much to Johnny's displeasure who was one of its strong 

supporters. He was not backward in his criticism of the NSWCA. 

 

Although the Super-grade competition concept was abandoned, the local Sydney newspaper The Referee sponsored 

a Wednesday competition in which Johnny played for a team representing the Daily Telegraph Pictorial. This 

competition's participants were from businesses and utilities rather than from a combination of the best players 

from 1st Grade teams.  
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Johnny was not one to forget his fellow sportsmen who had served in WW1. It was those pre-War cricketers, who 

sacrificed their careers and sporting ambitions, that played a large part in reviving the game on their return and into 

the 1920s. It was the A.I.F. team that toured England, South Africa and then on their return home visited the Eastern 

State capitals to play matches that especially excited the cricket starved public. The team also provided a nucleus for 

the renewal of a competitive Australian Test team. 

 

In 1929, Johnny brought up the issue of growing cost burdens for clubs and the players. The NSWCA being less well 

off than in their earlier days of affluence, were now not as generous with their grants to clubs. Australia was already 

heading into the Great Depression. 
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While at the Daily Telegraph, Johnny continued to play in games arranged against high school, college and country 

teams. Former Test and 1st Class players were often recruited for the matches. 

By 1931 Johnny had moved on from the Daily Telegraph and was now sporting editor for the Sun newspaper. At the 

Sun, in addition to his articles and editorial work, he became involved in the running of coaching clinics and 

publication of cricketing tips by popular players. Among the big-name players recruited was Don Bradman, who by 

now had become one of the most popular figures in Australian cricket. Johnny had become a mentor to the 

emerging champion batsman and assisted his entry into journalism by contracting him at the Sun to write a regular 

column. With the best cricketers of the day playing for meagre remuneration, Bradman was of the opinion he could 

possibly make more money from journalism than he could from cricket. This additional source of income only lasted 

until the Australian Cricket Board of Control raised objections because he was a current player. Bradman threatened 

to withdraw from the 1932/33 Ashes contest, but it was resolved when the Sun released him from his contract. 

                           

Johnny's involvement with the Sun newspaper extended to the promotion of cricket coaching clinics to NSW schools. 

He was able to gain the services of Don Bradman and other popular players to talk and pass on their knowledge to 

the students.  The Sun, along with major Sydney retailer, Palmers and broadcaster 2UE had played a vital role in 

providing sponsorship for Bradman who at this time was seriously considering his future in Australia, after receiving 

an attractive offer to play cricket as a professional in England. 
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Johnny utilised his close connections in cricketing circles to enlist other leading past and present Australian Test 

cricketers to publish their cricketing tips. This included a 40-page Sun publication (“ The Sun” Cricket Hints - now a 

collector's item). 
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Now  in his forties, Johnny only put on the creams for special occasions. Among some of the matches he played in 

after retiring from cricket was a match in 1933 before the Test Match against England in Brisbane.  He also lined up 

in a charity match at the SCG in November 1934 and in September of 1937, he played in a team of former State and 

International players against Manly at the opening of the reconditioned Brookvale Oval.  

   

As sporting editor for the Sun, Johnny published a weekly column in the Sunday Sun and Guardian called "Cricket 

Notches".  It ran from 23 December 1934 until 27 December 1936. A compilation of Johnny's original articles dated 

from 6th January 1935 to 14th July 1935, is held by the National Library of Australia. It is uncertain who this 

"scrapbook" belonged to. 
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There were just over 100 articles published in the "Cricket Notches" series and the following two examples published 

on consecutive weeks are a great example of the depth of insight that Johnny had for the game and the players.  

 



[Type here] 
 

 

 
Bradman's Move to South Australia 
Even though the Sun had offered Bradman an extension to his contract early in 1934 to continue his promotional 
activities for the newspaper, the restrictions placed on him by the Australian Board of Control, limited his career 
growth and earnings potential as a journalist, author and broadcaster. Although the arrangements had made him 
financially secure, Bradman did not enjoy his life so substantially revolving around cricket. During early 1934, an 
opportunity arose for him to gain valuable experience in the business world while continuing to play cricket. This was 
attractive to him and in April 1935, Don Bradman with wife Jessie, departed for Adelaide to play cricket for South 
Australia. The incentive was a position with the stockbroking firm of SA cricket identity Harry Hodgetts who at the 
time was South Australia’s representative on the Board of Control.   
 
Despite the move, Johnny remained in close contact with Bradman, who trusted him to accurately report on matters 
that concerned him. On occasions he contacted Johnny to release first-hand information in the media ahead of other 
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journalists.  In an article published in the Sydney Sun newspaper in April 1935, it was apparent that Bradman had 
asked Johnny to update the public about his recovery from the serious illness (appendicitis and peritonitis) that had 
stuck him just before his return home from the 1934 English cricket tour.  The article also covered his move 
interstate and passed on farewells to his friends in NSW. It did not matter if it was significant news about his cricket 
or personal matters, Bradman was confident in using Johnny to disseminate truthful information.  

     

Some of Bradman’s critics wanting him to appear disloyal to the State that gave him the opportunity to play at the 
highest level, suggested that cricket and not business, was Bradman's main reason for moving to Adelaide and the 
business arrangement was a way of making it worth his while. It soon became apparent that he wanted to learn as 
much about stockbroking and devoted as much time as possible outside his cricket and family commitments.  In 
December 1935 Bradman's clear priority was to the stockbroking firm when he made himself unavailable for an 
important tour fixture against the visiting MCC team in Sydney. This was when his boss Harry Hodgetts was taking a 
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holiday and it was therefore important for him to remain in Adelaide to deal with clients. Don had wired (telegram) 
Johnny to release this information after the NSWCA had been advised. Don had informed them only by letter which 
probably gave Johnny the opportunity to publish before others. 

          

There were other priorities at the beginning of the 1936/37 cricket season, when tragedy struck the Bradman's. 
Their first-born son lived only 36 hours after birth. It had been a difficult birth at the Memorial Hospital, North 
Adelaide and the neonate suffered from a lack of oxygen during delivery (asphyxia neonatorum). This had occurred 
on the eve of the England v South Australia tour match and despite his son's grave condition (which was not 
disclosed publically initially), Don bravely attended a reception at the Adelaide Town Hall for the English team. 
Johnny was in Adelaide at the time and discerningly reported on the boy's condition and ultimate death. I doubt if 
there would have been any other journalist who Bradman would have wanted to confide in at such a difficult time. 
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The infant was given the name Ross Moyes Bradman, an obvious tribute to his close friend and mentor. Perhaps not 

surprisingly shortly after the death of his son, with all the stress, Bradman faced another illness. There was concern 

for previously in 1934 he had very nearly died from acute appendicitis, but he assured Johnny that it was "nothing 

serious" this time. 
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The parental worries for Don and Jessie were not over when five years later in 1941 their daughter Shirley was born 
with Cerebral Palsy. Their son John, born in 1939 also suffered from polio as a youth but recovered well. Don also 
had to face a lot of criticism in his time as captain of the Australian team, largely because he had a far more reserved  
personality than his teammates and liked to keep more to himself. There were factions within the Australian team 
and some suggestions were made that Bradman was in it for the money and limelight. Johnny would leap to the 
defence of his friend who he knew Bradman’s personality far better than any of the critics. 

From 1935 Bradman's reputation as a stockbroker in the Adelaide business circles grew steadily and obviously 
attracted business to the firm.  This was temporarily  tarnished with the controversy that surrounded the 1945 
conviction and jailing of his boss and mentor Harry Hodgetts for fraud and embezzlement of client’s funds. Despite 
this, Bradman was able to assist many of the firm's clients by establishing his own company and regained their trust. 
After his retirement from stockbroking in late 1954, because of his increasing administrative roles within Australian 
cricket, he was eagerly sought out to be a board member on many high-profile Adelaide companies. Bradman's 
integrity and reputation were clearly intact. 

Johnny's profile as a cricket journalist and broadcaster was greatly respected by the cricketing public and players and 
administrators most of the time. Perhaps as he was always so open in his criticisms and opinions and his support for 
Bradman, he may have put some offside at times.  

Johnny toured with the Australian side to England in 1938 and was able to have unprecedented access to the players 
and their captain. 

     

Johnny Moyes, critic journalist, and broadcaster 

World War II 
With the outbreak of World War 2, the Sheffield Shield competition was suspended after the end of the 1939/40 

season, however the NSW Grade cricket competition continued throughout the War. Some first class games were 

also aranged by the NSWCA utilising the availablity of star players who were stationed on the east coast or on leave 

from the defence forces. In November 1939 Johnny played in a Sun newspaper’s charity match with many other 

cricket greats to raise funds for the supply of sporting equipment for the soldiers in camps.  

After the end of the 1st World War Major Alban George Moyes, although his active service was terminated, was 

placed on the Reserve Officers List of the 3rd Miltary District.  Like many other Reservists, Johnny was again called 
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upon in April 1941 to serve and was given command of the 7th Garrison Battalion. The Battalion was made up 

mostly of National Servicemen who by law were restricted to serve in a home defence capacity. For several months 

his men were required to undertake periods of training, mainly carried out in Victoria.  

World War II Service History 
Johnny served in the Australian Military Forces from April 1941 until February 1944 rising to the rank of Lieutenant 

Colonel as commander of the 7th Australian Garrison Battalion. 

https://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/ViewImage.aspx?B=5639157 

 

 

https://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/ViewImage.aspx?B=5639157
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Johnny Moyes (Middle Row 3rd from left) 



[Type here] 
 

Johnny, although serving, was still writing newspaper articles for The Sun until at least late 1941. Don Bradman’s 

health the future of his cricket career was still a mattrer of great public interest. 

  

 

 By August 1941, Johnny had been promoted to the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel and in December when Japan 

entered the War after the bombing of Pearl Harbour and attacks on Malaya, the 7th Garison Battalion was fully 

mobilised for home defence. It is apparent at that stage Johnny had taken leave from the Sun newspaper as his 

articles ceased. The 7th Garrison Battalion then spent 18 month in Darwin and after the government legislated that 
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national servicemen could serve overseas, the Battalion was later redeployed to the Bouganville Campaign. Johnny 

reliquised his command in early 1944 after a period spent in Queensland where his unit had undergone pre-

deployment training. 

It is not long after he left his command, that Johnny was back with the Sun, but it was not cricket he was writing on, 

but matters more of a political nature and the need for support for returning soldiers. He emphasised the 

importance of supporting the RSL and to embrace the men and women who were now serving in the current War.  
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By early 1945 with the tide of the War moving in the favour of the Allies, cricket was on the agenda again and Johnny 

was suggesting in his articles that after the War there could be a speedy reemergence of Test Cricket. He was quick 

to call for a focus on the immeddiate development of young players, who with the hiatus in district cricket 

competitions around Australia, would not be ready for higher levels of the game. It would be expected that there 

would be a need to fill the gap in experienced players, whose age and fitness may have passed them over during the 
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War years, as was the case following WW1. The biggest loss would have been Don Bradman and previously Johnny 

had already suggested that he did not believe there was much hope that Don would be able to play on. His close ties 

with Bradman and intimate knowledge of his fitness made him believe that was still going to be the case after the 

War. Many perhaps were not aware that Bradman had been discharged from the military on the grounds of ill 

health, including problems with his vision and fibrositis. 
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Post War Resumption of Cricket 
Bradman's reoccuring fibrositis and the need for him to sort out the issues following the collapse of Hodgett's 
sharebrocking business, had created doubt that he would be able to return to cricket and be available for the 
proposed Test series against England in the next Australian summer of 1946/47. However, excitment was building, as 
first class cricket was underway again after the War and this was reflected in Johnny's articles.  However, there was 
hope, after Bradman played in a 1st class match against Queensland in late 1945 and had made a century for South 
Australia in a Services game in early January 1946. 
 

 

For Johnny, there were still pressing issues that needed addressing in the media. He was still pushing the case for 

better monetary returns for Australia's players. Those players who did not have supportive employers with 

guaranteed employment on return from overseas or interstate tours were still often left in potentially desperate 
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situations. Payments to many of the players provived little compensation for lost wages and being away from 

families. 

 

In December 1947, Bradman made it official that the 1947/48 season would be his last season of cricket at all levels 

in Australia, however he still believed there was an outside chance of one final tour of England in 1948, but he made 

it clear no decision had been made at this stage. Of course Johnny was first to publish the announcment. 
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With Bradman's cricket playing career nearing an obvious conclusion, Johnny believed the time was right to pen the 

biography that all the cricketing world were waiting for. There was no one better qualified to do this than Johnny 

Moyes who had been a friend and mentor from the day the boy from Bowral arrived in Sydney. Released in time for 

Bradman's final tour of England in 1948 the biography had mixed reviews. The main criticism related to the lack of 

detail on "Bradman, the man" with respect to his personal life. For a biography it is perhaps a valid criticism, 

however this is easily understood when you know the respect Johnny held for Bradman's privacy.  As a biography 

that was based around Bradman as the greatest batsman of all time and rebuke the criticism that had been levelled 

at his character and captaincy, there was little to add and it is complete.  
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The main negative critique of the biography was published by Douglas Gratton in The Sun's  oposition newspaper 

and Johnny's former employer, the Daily Telegraph.  

 

Other critques were much fairer and understand exactly what Johnny's intentions were in authoring the publication. 

Naturally the Sun's review was positive. 
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Following the "Invincibles" tour of England in 1948 and his retirement, Bradman was given a Testamonial match to 

farewell the Australian cricket fans. In December 1948 Johnny reported in 1948 on Bradman's likely monetary return 

following this benefit match that was played in early December. The receipts were in the vicinity of £10,000 would 

be worth nearly half a million dollars today. 
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By the 1950's, Johnny was now the editor of Sporting Life one of the Sun's associated publications. During the period 

from 1948 until his death in 1963 Johnny's became more the author and cricket broadcaster, however he was always 

prepared to do his best to foster cricket in the schools and speak at various community  and cricket functions. 

Naturally his talks often reflected on past champions of the game many of whom he had played with or against but 

he was also keen to talk about current issues of the game, which he still showed remarkable insight. 

 

Johnny Moyes at Cook's Hill Primary School c 1950 (Keith Miller in the background in the light suit) 

 

 

In 1952/53 Johnny was broadcasting the Australian versus South Africa series alongside famed South African 

commentator Charles Fortune, well know for his love and “on-air” descriptions of Adelaide Oval. Johnny Moyes had 
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more reasons to have a great affection for the cricket ground, but he could never match Fortune’s eloquent 

narrative, nor would he have tried to. 

 

“This sports ground is not just a national treasure; it is a place of beauty and renown to the international cricket community. 
 
The apocryphal story is told of the flowery and adjectival South African cricket commentator Charles Fortune, that, as he broadcast his first 
match at the ground in 1953, he quickly became distracted. He gave the score at ''65 for no wicket as Lindwall prepares to start a new over'', 
before venturing off into a description of the oval's elegant beauty and its place within the city of Adelaide. 
 
The rugged grandeur of the Mount Lofty Ranges to the east, St Peter's Cathedral and its towering spire just outside the ground, the youngsters 
playing a match of their own beneath the main gate, the women in their colourful summer finery in the Giffen Stand, the seagulls at the foot of 
the sightscreen; all were described in elaborate detail. At the end of his travelogue, Fortune announced the score as ''65 for three at the end of 
the over, and our scorer tells me that was Lindwall's first-ever Test hat-trick''. 
 
Not true of course, but the point about the Adelaide Oval is well made. It casts a spell over every sports lover who passes through its portals.” 

 

Tim Lane in The Age (2011) 
 

Johnny did not go on the Australian tour of England in 1953 but remained at home broadcasting from the local 

studios in Sydney. Teaming up with Bill Brown they provided their own insight into the game, with the main  first-

hand commentary coming direct from John Arlott and others at the ground. During the breaks in play, they also 

responded to listener's queries; an early pre-cursor of talk-back radio. 
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In 1954 at 61 years of age, Johnny was a now a freelance journalist which had become secondary to his broadcasting 

and authoring of cricket books. He was however, contracted to write for the Grafton Daily Examiner, Lismore 

Northern Star along with several other regional newspapers for the 1954/55 MCC tour of Australia.  

  

Retrospective - Death - Family Legacies 
In 1959 Johnny received an MBE in the Queen's Birthday Honour's List "For services to sport, particularly cricket". It 
was obviously justly deserved, but the citation of course is too brief to give a full appreciation of his body of work. 
His writings as a journalist and author probably provide one of the most complete historical perspectives of 
Australian cricket during his lifetime. They say history repeats itself and his opinions and reflections were after his 
death shown to often be just as relevant to the evolution of the game as they were in his time.  
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As a cricketer, there is little doubt that Johnny batted all his cricketing career with overt aggression at the crease 

rather than being a careful accumulator of runs. At the end of his first class career his batting average of 29.43, did 

not place him amongst the greats of the game. In terms of playing within the spirit of the game and for 

entertainment value for the spectators, it was of the highest measure. There was always an expectation when he 

was out in the middle that he would be looking to take the bowling attack apart, however he was always going to 

give chances to the opposition fielders. His early departure would disappoint those at the ground.  

After returning from the First World War, it was said that the severe wound to his knee caused him ongoing distress 

if he spent a long time at the crease. This, along with what seemed to an instinct, evident early in his career, was 

perhaps one of the reasons why he was prepared to ruthlessly attack the bowling to get on with it or get out. He was 

prepared to chance his luck from the first ball he faced. 

Although Johnny Moyes cannot be compared in the same breath as Victor Trumper, it is appropriate to believe he 

had been strongly influenced by him and this also reflected in the way he played. Idolising Trumper had probably 

been developed well before Johnny was invited to play in his 1913 Testimonial match in Sydney. In 1900, as a young 

boy he had met Trumper when his father invited the NSW team to their home in Adelaide.  In the back yard with his 

older brothers and father and junior cricket at St Peter's College, it was likely that Johnny already had him on a 

pedestal.  

Ashley Mallett in his book; Trumper - The Illustrated Biography - The Greatest Batsman of Cricket's Golden Age 

writes;  "Johnny Moyes idolised Trumper, but as a writer Moyes was very astute. He also revered Bradman; got to 

know the man as few men had, but still, in his writings, you felt in Moyes' heart there was something special about 

Victor Trumper".  

In an article in the Canberra Times in 1992, the author who was a neighbour of Moyes in Chatswood, wrote of 

Johnny's feelings towards Trumper. 
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Johnny's close and loyal friendship with Don Bradman, and his spirited defence of the character of the greatest 

cricketer of all time character should be remembered. The indelible link, given thoughtfully by Don and Jessie 

Bradman, following the family tragedy of 1936, remains a testament to the bond and mutual respect between them.  
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Had the First World War not interrupted Johnny's cricketing career at a pivotal time and then with the scars of War, 

it can be speculated that he would have played a lot more first-class cricket and potentially been a wonderful and 

exciting Test Cricketer. 

As a journalist, cricket commentator and author, Johnny was like he was as a batsman, prepared to attack and 

entertain. He was never shy to challenge when he thought something needed to be said. He was qualified to do so. 

Alban George "Johnny" Moyes died suddenly on the night of Friday 18th January 1963. During the day he had been a 

member of the ABC commentary team at the Sydney Cricket Ground where NSW were playing SA. No doubt during 

the day Johnny, as was usual for him, would have been reflecting on his memories of great players and their past 

performances. Thankfully, after his death those recollections remain safely recorded in his thousands of newspaper 

articles and cricket books. 
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In 2014 Alban George "Johnny" Moyes was inducted into the Sydney Cricket Ground Media Hall of Honour. 

 

SCG Media Hall of Fame Induction 
August 2014 

Citation 
“Johnnie Moyes played Sheffield Shield cricket for South Australia as a teenager before the Great War. He was 
chosen to go to South Africa with the Australian team in 1914–15 but the War meant the tour did not take place. 
Moyes enlisted in the AIF. He earned the Military Cross in France and was seriously wounded. He played twice for 
Victoria in 1920 before moving to Sydney, to forge a remarkable career in the media. 
 
He was initially a correspondent for Sporting Globe, then a reporter and news editor with the Daily Telegraph, the 
Daily Guardian, The Sun and Sporting Life. 
 
After the Second World War, he became a revered broadcaster with the ABC and author of 13 of the best books ever 
written on Australian cricket, including accounts of tours by overseas teams to Australia that are classics of tour 
reportage. Moyes’ excited yet measured commentary of three dramatic finishes during the epic Australia-West 
Indies series of 1960–61, including the Tied Test, are now part of cricket folklore.” 
 

Australia v West Indies – The Brisbane Tied Test Match 
In December 1960, Johnny Moyes who was then commentating for ABC Television was involved in one of the most 
famous moments in the history of Australian cricket - The Australia v West Indies tied Test Match. It is worth 
reproducing that final over commentary. 
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The Broadcast of the Final Over - Australia v West Indies in Brisbane 9th - 14th December 1960 

To give some idea of the breathless excitement of that monumental final over, the "live" ABC commentary is 
reproduced below:- 

“Hall comes in, bowls to Benaud…Benaud tries to hook him, caught the edge and he’s out! Caught behind by 
Alexander. Eight wickets for 228 – well, what a Test match!” 
 

“Hall now to Meckiff…moves in on his leg stump, tries to sweep it and here’s a stolen single, and he might be run 
out…and Hall’s missed the stumps!” 

“Eight for 229. Hall to Grout…Grout skies him…and there’s four of them getting under it, Kanhai gets out of the 
way…it’s muffed! It’s muffed! Four of them converged on the ball…” 

“Hall comes in…Meckiff pulls him high into the outfield…four runs…no it won’t get to the fence, they’re going for the 
three though…Grout might be…behind the line and he throws himself, and he’s out! Run out! 

“Hall will bowl to Kline…and here’s the single that will win the match for Australia…he’s out! He’s run out! Oh, it’s a 
tie!” 

 

The Editing of the famous Broadcast! 
 

“Another significant story from the radio box is less well known. 
 
The archival recording of the last ball of that famous game was retrospectively "touched up". This was done to 
correct a failure by the commentators to identify the actual result as it happened.  
 
The ABC's Brisbane-based commentator of the time, the late Clive Harburg, was at the microphone for the last over, 
along with A.G. "Johnnie" Moyes. With such unpredictability occurring on the ground, at the climactic moment 
neither was able to quite put his finger on the specific result of the match. 
 
Subsequently, ABC management instructed Harburg and Moyes to mock up a commentary in which the tied result 
was clearly stated. This was done, most likely the next day, and if you listen closely, the moment when the 
retrospective takes over from the actual is quite discernible. 
 
After that junction, the sound of one finger tapping away at a manual typewriter can be heard in the background. 
This was included for effect to seek to convey the sound of a busy press-box! 
 
I was a young boy listening at the time, and I clearly recall Moyes exclaiming "the West Indies have won", and then of 
not quite knowing exactly what the outcome was. Moyes' delighted pronouncement – he was enjoying the West 
Indies' surprising competitiveness – is not to be found on the archival recording. 
 
In the early 1990s, McGilvray told me he still had in his possession the original recording which, to my knowledge, 
doesn't exist in the ABC archives. Alas, he died in 1996 and his copy has never been located. 
 
It's a pity, because I feel sure the ABC made an error of judgment in doing as it did. The actual broadcast, however 
flawed, would have represented a far more important record of the famous moment than a fake. 
 
And after several years of stultifying Test cricket, this one match—as  A.G. “Johnnie" Moyes writes in his measured 
account (With the West Indies in Australia, 1960-61)—“breathed new life into the dead bones of a game which had 
been starved to death by indecisive batting, lack of inspiration in bowling, dullness and lack of adventure in 
leadership". 
 

From "A Test in time " -  Tim Lane;  Sydney Morning Herald 5/12/2010 

 
________________________________ 
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Family Legacies - Siblings 

While Johnny was gaining notoriety on the cricket field, so were his  two older brothers in other fields. 

John Stoward Moyes (1884 -1972) 

The eldest brother, John Stoward Moyes, became a long serving and often outspoken member of the clergy, 
reaching the high position within the Church of England as Bishop of Armidale. He had become a member of the 
clergy after finishing his Adelaide University studies. After spending time in England, on his return he had been 
appointed Rector of St Cuthbert's Church, Prospect. Later, he would be elevated to higher positions within the 
Church of England including appointment as Bishop of Armidale NSW (1929 – 1964).  See Appendices (Australian 
Dictionary of Biography) for additional Information. 
 

                        
 
 

 
Bishop of Armidale John Stoward Moyes (on left) - 1948 in England 

 

---------------------------- 

http://adb.anu.edu.au/about-us/
http://adb.anu.edu.au/about-us/


[Type here] 
 

Morton Henry Moyes (1886 – 1981) 

Johnny’s other brother Morton while at University been greatly inspired by his geology lecturer Douglas Mawson 

and in 1911 applied to join his party to explore the Antarctic. 

 

 
Back: Percy Correll, Cecil Madigan, and Frank Bickerton 

Front: Alfred Hodgeman, Sir Douglas Mawson and Morton Moyes 
c.1911 

http://www.coolantarctica.com/Antarctica%20fact%20file/History/biography/1911-Back-Percy-Correll-Cecil-Madigan-and-Frank-Bickerton-Front-Alfred-Hodgeman-Sir-Douglas-Mawson-and-Morton-Moyes.jpg
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Morton Henry Moyes would go on to have a distinguished career with the Royal Australian Navy. Serving during 

WW1 and WW2 and in peace time, he played a vital role in the education of Navy servicemen. 

INSTRUCTOR CAPTAIN M.H. MOYES, OBE., B.SC., FRGS., RAN. 
 

 

SENIOR EDUCATIONAL OFFICER ROYAL AUSTRALIAN NAVY. 
FLINDERS NAVAL DEPOT, VICTORIA, AUSTRALIA. 1942-1947. CAPTAIN MOYES HAS MADE THREE VISITS TO THE ANTARCTIC: FIRST IN 1911-

1914, THEN IN 1916-1917 AND IN 1929-1930. 
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Published Biographies and Obituary 

"Prominent People" Standard (Frankston, Vic. : 1939 - 1949) 6 December 1940: 8. Web. 8 Aug 2017 
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navyhistory.org.au  

 
Obituary: Captain Morton Henry Moyes OBE RAN 

 

December 1997 edition of the Naval Historical Review (all rights reserved)  

In 1997, the 50th anniversary of the Australian National Antarctic Research Expedition, it is most appropriate that the Naval 
Review should include a “salute” to Morton Henry Moyes. He was one of the pioneers of Antarctica and a ‘founding member” of 
the Royal Australian Navy. Those of us whom he taught are honoured in having known him. WFC. 
 
We are come to honour and to mourn the passing of a fine man who, during his long life achieved great things – Captain Morton 
Henry Moyes. 
 
He was a true leader – a simple man – a modest man – in very truth a gentle man. He was born in South Australia in 1886 – 95 
years ago – and into a family that has provided Australia with a remarkable collection of leaders in many walks of life – in the 
Church, in the Professions and in Business. 
 
He had a distinguished academic and athletic career both at his school St. Peters College and at the University of Adelaide. This 
love of sport persisted, and I can well remember his enthusiastic and very vocal support on the football, cricket and athletic 
fields. And coupled with this love of sport was a deep and abiding fellow feeling for his fellow man – and Daddy – as he was 
affectionately known to many of us here – remains in our hearts and minds as a lifelong and devoted friend. 
 
In 1913 his adventurous spirit found an outlet when he was selected to join the handpicked team of 18 which formed Dr. 
Mawson’s Australian Antarctic Expedition. It was here in Antarctica that Daddy Moyes – an extrovert if ever there was one – had 
to learn to live in solitude with his soul. It was planned that three parties should set out for a week’s trek over the ice while 
Moyes the meteorologist remained at Base to continue his observations alone. But the plans went awry and at the end of the 
week, there was no sign of any of the parties returning. 
 
It is hard to imagine in these days of radio, television and satellite communication, the utter loneliness of a man living in 
complete solitude, and with the fear and anxiety of what might have happened to his mates. Time went by and eventually and 
desperately he set out on foot – man hauling a sledge – in search of them and covering an arc of some 40 miles radius. But it was 
all in vain, and eventually, and in agony from snow blindness, he was forced to return to his hut. It was not until three endless 
months later that the exploratory parties managed to fight their way back to the Base. 
 
But this experience brought out some of the philosopher and even the poet in him. Listen to his words:  
“The solitude went with me like an unseen presence, an utterly silent, friendless watcher”, and “That country-built frost on a 
man, plated him with ice, stiffened his garments like armour. It found him out in character and physical endurance”, and finally: 
“I don’t know what drove me on. But a man is never beaten, I think, until he beats himself”. 
 
And nothing beat Captain Moyes. For 18 years he remained associated with Antarctic exploration and was a member of 3 
separate expeditions. He was awarded the Silver Polar Medal, the Bronze Polar Medal and a Bar to the Bronze Polar Medal. 
Cape Moyes in Antarctica commemorates his name. 
 
In early 1914 Captain Creswell as he then was, sought out the young meteorologist and navigator Moyes to help him train the 
infant Royal Australian Navy, and Daddy joined the Naval College as an Instructor in Navigation. During World War I he served in 
HMAS Encounter. 
 
After the war and looking to the future – as he always did – he organised Educational courses for ratings and was responsible for 
building up the Schoolmaster Branch. 
 
In 1935 he was created an officer of the Order of the British Empire. 
 
Disappointed that at 54 he was considered too old for service at sea in World War II he organised correspondence school 
courses for men at sea and initiated a Psychology section in the RAN so that vocational guidance could be given. 
 

https://www.navyhistory.org.au/obituary-captain-morton-henry-moyes-obe-ran/
https://www.navyhistory.org.au/obituary-captain-morton-henry-moyes-obe-ran/
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He played a leading part in the Commonwealth Reconstruction Training Scheme after the War and on his retirement from the 
Navy in 1946 became the chief Rehabilitation Officer for the Commonwealth. As such he was responsible for the post-war 
training of more than 11,000 men and women. 
 
In 1954 Captain Moyes was approached by some of his old shipmates in what is now known as the Naval Association of Australia 
and shortly afterwards was elected their State President. For the 15 years that he occupied this position of leadership, he 
continued to display this deep fellow feeling for his fellow man that I have referred to earlier. The presence of so many 
representatives of the Naval Association here this morning and of Captain Gulliver, representing the Navy, is testimony to the 
esteem and respect in which he was held. 
 
In his later years Captain Moyes still retained his interest in contemporary affairs and his brain and his mind were active to the 
last. Within the last hour of his life, he spoke to his nephew Allen and said, “I think Father Time is catching up on me”. 
 
And so, we mourn the passing of Captain “Daddy” Moyes, O.B.E., R.A.N. – a leader – a philosopher and a friend. But we shall 
remember him, and that hearty, infectious chuckle that used to echo through the wardrooms and the mess decks of the Fleet. 
His body lies at rest but his spirit lives on – once more sailing through the wide seas and the silence and the vastness of the 
unknown and – once more – leading us – we who are left behind – by the shining light of his example. 
 

------------------- 
 

Vera Mary Moyes (1887 – 1961) 

Johnny's oldest sister Vera Mary served as a nurse in WW1. She did not marry and moved to NSW after the War.  

 
Sister Vera Mary Moyes (SLSA) 

 

Thelma Elizabeth Moyes (1889 – 1977) 

Johnny’s youngest sister, Thelma Elizabeth aided the War effort at home, assisting with the entertainment of the 

soldiers in Camp. She married Paul G. Graham and moved to NSW also. Her husband died in 1923. 

            

 

----------------------------------- 
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Owen Arnold Philip Moyes (1906 – 1986) 

Little is recorded about the life of Johnny's half-brother, Owen Arnold Philip Moyes (1906 - 1986), however it is 

recorded that he studied some subjects, including Pure Mathematics and Education, at Adelaide University from 

about 1926 to 1929 .  

 

During this time Owen was most probably studying at the Teacher's Training College. From 1931 to 1935 he was a 

teacher at Gomersal School in the Barossa Valley and later at Hampden or nearby. By the 1940's he was back in the 

city and living at Mitcham. 

 

------------------------- 

 

Family Legacies - Children 

Johnny and Freda had two sons. John Frederick Moyse and Allan George Moyse. Both boys served in WW2, John in 

the Navy (following his uncle Morton's footsteps) and Allan with the A.I.F. 

John Frederick Moyes (1920 - 2000) 

John followed his father into Journalism and became Editor of the Sydney Sunday Telegraph. He had demonstrated 

his interest in journalism at an early age, having an article published in the Sun in 1938. 
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 John attended North Sydney High School where he demonstrated his cricketing ability as a batsman wicketkeeper 

and was chosen to captain a combined high school cricket team. 
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In 1938 John enrolled in the science faculty at Sydney University and played some 1st Grade cricket for the Cricket 

Club as a wicket keeper / batsman. He played in the January 1939 Intervarsity Cricket contest against Melbourne. 

        

After the War, John's was appointed to the literary staff of the Sydney Sun Newspaper. During his service in the navy 

in WW2  he had documented his experiences in New Guinea and the Philippines and published information relating 

to these important campaigns. He was invited to lecture about his experiences in England and Scotland. 

 

Showing the same literary skills as his father, John authored several historical publications relating to his service in 

the Navy including "The Scrap-Iron Flotilla", "Sea Digest" and "Mighty Midgets". He also wrote on the Port 

Macquarie District. 
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------------------------- 

 

 

Allan George Moyes AO (1922 - 2018) 

Allan Moyes also attended North Sydney Boys' High School from 1935 and matriculated in 1940. He also played 

cricket before the War, playing lower grades with his father's old Club, Gordon. One of his team mates was the late 

Victor Trumper's nephew, Norman. Allan's father, Johnny had played against the great Victor Trumper before the 1st 

World War and with Norman's father Sid after the War.  
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Allan was also a motor cycle enthusiast as a teenager and was a founding member of the Griffith Motor Cycling Club. 

  

Allan served in the Australian Military during WW2 and in May 1944 married Miss Gwendolyn Rowe. His brother 

John was best man. 

   

Settling in Melbourne after the War, Allan studied accountancy and after completing examinations in November 

1951, was admitted as an Associate of the Commonwealth Institute of Accountants. 
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After joining IBM in 1953, Allan went on to have an outstanding career with the company, later becoming its Chief 

Executive Officer and finally Chairman in 1979. Serving prominently with numerous government and industry 

committees and associations he was awarded an Order of Australia in 1975. 

 

 

His lifetime achievements with IBM Australia are covered in the following obituary composed by long-time friend 

John Watts 

"Allan Moyes: 
 
It is with sadness that I report that Allan Moyes died early Thursday morning following a heart attack.   I was with 
him on Wednesday afternoon in hospital where he was recovering from surgery on his leg. 

He was bright and we were able to recall some of the humorous events we shared in IBM's history over the years. 
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Allan Moyes played a significant role in the transition of IBM Australia from the Time Recording business prior to the 
1950s to the leading information processing business it is today.   He joined IBM in 1953 as a student salesman.   The 
very first sales class consisted of Alan (sic) Moyes, Peter Holmes a Court, Ray Ctercteko, Bill Tait and Jean Laing.   He 
was out in the field as a DP Salesman in 1955 and in 1956 was appointed branch manager in Melbourne. 

Following the passing of General Manager, George Bennett in September 1958, Allan Moyes became General 
Manager of IBM Australia. 

In 1958, there were three main divisions of IBM: Data Processing, Electric Typewriters, and Time Systems, each 
uniquely different.   Under Allan Moyes leadership, these divisions integrated into the successful organisation that it 
is today.   He managed the rapid growth of the business technology from the IBM 7090 in 1961, through the 360 and 
370 series, all of which required significant staff recruitment and training. 

In 1962, he was appointed Region Manager for the South Pacific which included New Zealand.   In 1968-69, Allan 
Moyes and family moved to the USA where he had a special assignment at IBM World Headquarters. 

His contribution to the Australian business community was recognised in 1975 with an AO Award, Order of 
Australia.   He continued as Chief Executive through to 1979 when he became Chairman of the Board of IBM 
Australia. 

On the personal front, I have to say Allan Moyes was a pillar of integrity.   His leadership has never been matched 
and no Chief Executive has ever enjoyed the love and respect that he engendered.   He died in his 97th year.   I will 
certainly miss our regular meetings for coffee and chat.   I have nothing but great memories of a wonderful 
individual. 

AUTHOR     John Watts 

Published on behalf of QUARTER CENTURY NSW INCORPORATED  Fred Hawkins - Secretary" 

 

------------------------------------------ 

 

 

Biography Compiled by:  Rob O'Shannassy AUFC/AUCC WW1 Memorial Committee 

 

Sources and Acknowledgements 
The AIF Project  https://www.aif.adfa.edu.au/ 
Virtual War Memorial https://vwma.org.au/explore/people/255952 
The National Archives of Australia http://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/ 
Australian War Memorial https://www.awm.gov.au/collection/ 
The Adelaide University  http://www.adelaide.edu.au/records/archives/ 
The National Library of Australia -Trove (Digitised Newspapers) http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/ 
Who's Who in Australia 1947 
Australian Dictionary of Biography http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/moyes-alban-george-johnny-11416 
State Library of SA 
Ray Webster – Cricket Historian 
CicketArchive 
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Appendices 

Published Biographies, Obituaries and Additional Information 

Moyes, Alban George (Johnny) (1893–1963) 
by Anne O'Brien 

This article was published in Australian Dictionary of Biography, Volume 15, (MUP), 2000 
 

This is a shared entry with John Stoward Moyes 
 

John Stoward Moyes (1884-1972), Anglican bishop, and Alban George (Johnny) Moyes (1893-1963), journalist and cricket 

commentator, were born on 25 July 1884 at Koolunga, South Australia, and 2 January 1893 at Gladstone, eldest surviving and 

youngest of six children of John Moyes, schoolteacher, and his wife Ellen Jane, née Stoward, both from New South 

Wales. Morton Henry Moyes was their brother. Educated at the Collegiate School of St Peter, Adelaide, the three Moyes 

brothers were all called 'John'; 'Johnny' stuck to Alban who detested his given name. John Stoward Moyes studied psychology 

and logic at the University of Adelaide (B.A., 1905; M.A., 1907) and became president of the university branch of the Australian 

Student Christian Movement; he later wrote that the S.C.M. had introduced him to a Christianity of 'grace and love', not merely 

'law and commandments'. Entering St Barnabas' Theological College, he was made deacon on 22 December 1907 and ordained 

priest on 21 December 1908 by the bishop of Adelaide. 

His first appointment (1907) was to a curacy in the parish of St Paul's, Port Pirie. At St Cyprian's Church, North Adelaide, on 22 

April 1909 he married Helen Margaret (d.1970), daughter of (Sir) Richard Butler. In 1911-13 Moyes worked as assistant-curate in 

the London parish of Lewisham. The extreme poverty he witnessed there, and that which he had seen at Port Pirie during the 

1908-09 lockout, consolidated his commitment to a social application of the gospel. He returned to South Australia in 1913 and 

took up the rectorship of St Cuthbert's, Prospect. Reappointed to Port Pirie in 1919, he helped in 1921 to mediate the end of a 

two-year strike at Broken Hill Associated Smelters Pty Ltd. While Moyes was rector (1921-29) of St Bartholomew's, Norwood, 

the parish grew; many were attracted to Sunday-evening services by his powerful preaching. From 1925 he was also archdeacon 

of Adelaide. 

Consecrated on 30 November 1929 as bishop of Armidale, New South Wales, Moyes used his episcopacy as a platform for his 

political and social views. He aroused opposition when he criticized banking policy during the Depression, advocated closer 

settlement in 1935-36, supported waterside workers who refused to ship iron ore to Japan in 1938, and defended striking 

coalminers in 1942. He spoke out against (Sir) Robert Menzies' proposal to outlaw the Communist Party of Australia, backed the 

movement to reform the White Australia policy and opposed the Vietnam War. Moyes was chairman of the General Synod's 

social questions committee (1933-63) and of the Christian Social Order Movement (1943-51). 

In 1941 Moyes had delivered the Moorhouse lectures in Melbourne—published as Australia: The Church and the 

Future (1942)—in which he criticized Australian institutions, including the Church, for being characterized by 'individualism and 

no sense of divine calling'. Once again he 'created a storm'. He spoke frequently on the importance of education, chaired the 

boards of the New England Girls' School and The Armidale School, and was a founding member (1953) of the council and 

deputy-chancellor of the University of New England (Hon. D.Litt., 1961). 

Moyes travelled extensively throughout the diocese and abroad, attending the Lambeth conferences of 1930, 1948 and 1958, 

and visiting North America in 1943, 1948, 1954, 1958 and 1963 as chairman of the social questions committee and as a 

representative of the World Council of Churches. He published American Journey (Sydney, 1944), In Journeyings 

Often(Melbourne, 1949), America Revisited (Sydney, 1955) and Third Time of Asking (Sydney, 1959). 

Bishop Moyes was disappointed in his wish to be promoted to a metropolitan see. Despite accusations that he was a communist 

sympathizer, his politics were essentially liberal. In 1965 he published a critique of communism, The Communist Way of Life and 

the Christian's Answer(Sydney). He attributed his 'radical outlook' in part to the snobbish manner in which his parents had been 

treated by a number of South Australian pastoral families. Sometimes seen as aloof or vain, he acted according to clear-cut 

perceptions of right and wrong, believing that he had 'a duty to oppose what is wicked'. In 1962 he was appointed C.M.G. Moyes 

retired to Vaucluse, Sydney, in 1964. He enjoyed cricket and music, and wrote his memoirs. On 30 August 1971 at St Peter's 

Church, Hornsby, he married Mary Scott Pentreath, née Holland, an 87-year-old widow. Survived by his wife, and by the four 

sons and two daughters of his first marriage, he died on 29 January 1972 at Hornsby and was cremated. 

http://adb.anu.edu.au/biographies/author/?author=2785
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http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/moyes-john-stoward-11190
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http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/menzies-robert-gordon-bob-11111
http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/moorhouse-james-4238
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His brother 'Johnny' studied science at the University of Adelaide before joining the Australian Imperial Force on 13 July 1915. 

Commissioned two months later, he served with the 48th Battalion on the Western Front, was twice wounded and won the 

Military Cross (1918). In November 1918 Major Moyes sailed for Melbourne. After his A.I.F. appointment terminated, he took a 

job with the Repatriation Commission. At St Paul's Anglican Church, Fairfield, on 28 June 1919 he married 30-year-old Frederica 

Sophia Honor Christensen. Late in 1921 he moved to Sydney where he worked as a correspondent for Melbourne's Sporting 

Globe. 

A promising young cricketer, Moyes had represented (1912-15) South Australia (making a century on début), been chosen 

(1914) for Australia in a tour (cancelled due to World War I) against South Africa, and played for Victoria in 1920. In Sydney, he 

achieved one of the highest individual scores in grade cricket when he made 218 runs in 83 minutes for the Gordon District 

Cricket Club in 1922. Presented with an engraved silver ball to honour 'his captaincy and the good fellowship he inspired', he 

served as a New South Wales selector (1926-27) and wanted (Sir) Donald Bradman to play for the State. 

By 1927, when Moyes joined the State branch of the Australian Journalists' Association, he was a senior reporter for the Globe. 

He became news editor for the Daily Telegraph about 1928, but soon transferred to the Daily Guardian. Having joined 

Associated Newspapers Ltd in 1931, he was sporting editor of the Sun for fifteen years. In 1941-44 he commanded the 7th 

Australian Garrison as a lieutenant colonel, and remained involved in casual sporting journalism. From 1946 to 1951 he edited 

Associated Newspapers' magazine, Sporting Life. His thirteen books on cricket included accounts of Test tours, the 

biographies, Bradman (1948) and Benaud (1962), and Australian Cricket (1959). 

In 1949 Moyes had begun broadcasting sporting sessions for the Australian Broadcasting Commission. In 1950-51 he covered his 

first Test series, against England. In 1955 he received a full-time contract. As a cricket broadcaster, he became a household name 

in Australia and New Zealand in the 1950s and early 1960s. His pithy and authoritative commentaries, delivered in a 'dryly-

humourous voice', won thousands of listeners to the A.B.C. He was renowned for his summaries of the day's game which, he 

wrote, should be 'factual and yet not dull'. Sir Charles Moses described him as 'a scrupulously honest communicator'. Moyes's 

'infectiously hysterical' description of the last over of the tied Test between Australia and the West Indies in December 1960 was 

replayed many times by popular request. 

Moyes was appointed M.B.E. in 1959. He and his wife were active members of the congregation of St Stephen's Anglican Church, 

Willoughby. Bradman, who had worked with him as a junior on the Sun, described him as 'most considerate and helpful . . . a 

fine-living man'. Survived by his wife and two sons, Johnny Moyes died of coronary vascular disease on 18 January 1963 at his 

Chatswood home and was cremated. 
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Johnny Moyes (from Wikipedia) 

 

Alban George "Johnny" Moyes MBE, MC (2 January 1893 – 18 January 1963) was a cricketer who played for South 
Australia and Victoria. Following his brief playing career, Moyes, a professional journalist, later gained greater fame 
as a writer and commentator on the game.  
Contents: 

• Cricket career 

• Writing and radio career 

• Books by Johnny Moyes 

• References 

• External links 

Cricket career 

 

As a right-hand batsman Moyes scored 883 runs at an average of 29.43 and a highest score of 104 in 103 minutes, 
against Australia in his first season. His leg break bowling8 took 5 wickets at an average of 53.60, with best figures of 
2 for 22. He was considered good enough to be selected for the Australian tour of South Africa in 1914, but this was 
cancelled because of the outbreak of the First World War. He played for the Rest of Australia against New South 
Wales and Victor Trumper was so impressed that he invited him to play as a guest for Gordon in a club match. 
However, he was dismissed for a first ball duck. 

 
8 Match reports before WW1 indicate clearly that he bowled with the new ball, so it is believed that he likely was a pace bowler, 
not a leg-spinner. He may have changed to leg-spin after the War. Reports also indicate he could swing the ball appreciably 
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Moyes served with distinction in the First World War with the Australian Imperial Force in England and France, 
earning the Military Cross. He played in a number of services' matches in England and played two matches for 
Victoria. 

Moving to Sydney as news editor and sports editor of leading newspapers, Moyes joined Gordon. In one club game 
he scored 218 runs in 83 minutes. He captained Gordon to a grade premiership in 1923–24, scoring 174 in the final. 
As a state selector for New South Wales in 1926/27 Moyes helped Don Bradman get his first taste of interstate 
cricket. 

Writing and radio career 

 

Moyes became well known as a cricket commentator for the ABC between 1950 and 1963. Pollard describes him as 
"always bright and informative, a cheery character respected by players and listeners". He was a prolific author and 
wrote the first definitive history of Australian cricket in 1959. Other works included books on Australian batsmen, 
Australian bowlers, Bradman, Benaud, and many books of tours by Test nations. For his services to sport Moyes was 
appointed a Member of the Order of the British Empire. 

Moyes died suddenly at his home, three days after commentating on the third Test of the 1962–63 series 
between Australia and England at Sydney. A few days before he died he asked the England vice-captain Colin 
Cowdrey to write a foreword to his book on the 1962–63 Ashes series: 

Blessed with rare gifts "Johnny" Moyes was loved and respected wherever he went ... He brought to the microphone 
an authoritative manner, and the shrewd, quick mind of the trained journalist. If he was outspoken and fearless in 
his appraisal of any situation, at all times he was utterly fair and impartial. Perhaps it was in this way more than any 
other that he contributed so much to our great game, and that he endeared himself to all who were privileged to 
know him well.[1] 

Publications by Johnny Moyes 

 

• Cricket Notches (1935) 

• Bradman (1948) 

• A Century of Cricketers (1950) 

• The Fight for the Ashes 1950–51: A critical account of the English tour in Australia (1951) 

• With the West Indies in Australia, 1951–52: A critical story of the tour (1952) 

• The South Africans in Australia, 1952–53 (1953) 

• Australian Bowlers: From Spofforth to Lindwall (1953) 

• Australian Batsmen: From Charles Bannerman to Neil Harvey (1954) 

• The Fight for the Ashes, 1954–55: A critical account of the English tour in Australia (1955) 

• Australian Cricket: A history (1959) 

• Benaud & Co.: The story of the Tests, 1958–59 (1959) 

• With the West Indies in Australia, 1960–61: A critical story of the tour (1961) 

• Benaud (1962) 

• The Changing Face of Cricket (1963) 

• With the M.C.C. in Australia, 1962–63 (1963) (completed by Tom Goodman) 
 

 
Sources 
Pollard, Jack, Australian Cricket: The game and the players. Sydney, Hodder & Stoughton, 1982. (ISBN 0-340-28796-
9) 
Wisden, 1964 (obituary) 
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All Publications Authored by A.G. "Johnnie" Moyes9 
 

 

 
 

        

 
9 "Johnny" or "Johnnie" are both used at times, however his books have used "Johnnie" on the front cover and other citations.  
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MOYES, Alban George 

Ray Webster (Cricket Historian) 

South Australia 1912/13 to 1914/15.     Victoria 1919/20 and 1920/21. 

Right-hand batsman and right-arm leg-break (?) bowler. 
 
Born: 2 January 1893 (Gladstone, South Australia). 
Parents: John and Ellen Jane (nee Stoward). 
Education: St Peter’s College (Adelaide), Adelaide University. 
Occupation: Journalist, later a noted ABC radio commentator. 
Physique: Height, 183cm; weight, 74kg. 
Club cricket:  
South Australia - University. 
Victoria - Melbourne, Essendon.   
New South Wales - Gordon. 
Other sports: Baseball. 
Principal sources:  
Sun-Herald 20.1.1963 (obituary). 
The Cricketer March 1963, p 17 (obituary).   
Wisden 1964, p 950 (obituary). 
Cricketer, Australia, March 1977, p 29. 
Australian Cricket: The Game and The Players, pp 730-731. 
Wisden Monthly May 1987, p 19. 
Australian Dictionary of Biography 15, pp 434-436. 
Oxford Companion to Australian Cricket, p 372. 
Photographs: Australian Cricket: A History, p 256. 
The Observer, Adelaide, 9.11.1912, p 19 (batting stance). 
The Referee 4.12.1912, p 12.   
The Australasian, 3.1.1914. 
Died: 18 January 1963 (Chatswood, Sydney) - confirmed from newspaper notice. 
 
A brother, John Stoward Moyes (1884-1972), played first-grade cricket for East Torrens. 
A son, John Frederick Moyes (1920-2000), played first-grade cricket for Sydney University. 
 
University (280) v East Torrens (138) at University Oval, 9 & 16 March 1912. 
“The hero of the game was A.G. Moyes, a fine, dashing batsman, who made 180 in 150 minutes.  He gave four 
chances, hit 1 six and 31 fours.  Moyes, who is only 19 years old, has a brilliant career as a cricketer in front of him.  
With lads like him and Murray, South Australia’s cricket is likely to improve in the next few years.”  (Game in South 
Australia, The Referee 27.3.1912). 
 
South Australia v Western Australia at Adelaide Oval, 25-28 October 1912. 
“Rees joined Moyes, who completed his century in 103 minutes, and was warmly applauded.  In the same over he 
was bowled by Hughes for 104.  The South Australians thought they had a coming champion in Murray, but sound 
judges have said that Moyes is quite as good as batsman as that colt.  Today he batted in beautiful form.  He hits 
hard and yet has a good defence.  The feature of his cricket is his placing of the ball where openings are left in the 
field.  His hits included one six and 17 fours.  He is only 19 years old, and should have a great future.”  (The Referee 
30.10.1912). 
“The feature of the innings was the making of 104 by A.G. Moyes (University).  He is an attractive bat, and hits all 
round the wicket.  It was his first interstate match, and he stayed at the wickets for 103 minutes, and gave a good 
display all the time.  He hit no less than 17 fours, and was free and graceful on both sides of the wicket.  He has the 
style which makes big cricket worth paying to see, and will certainly be picked for the next interstate eleven.”   
(Cover in The Observer, Adelaide, 2.11.1912). 
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University (3/334) v West Torrens (305) at University Oval, 9 & 16 November 1912. 
“University had registered a brilliant victory against West Torrens.  They were set 305 with 205 minutes to bat, and 
they won with 20 minutes to spare, thanks to the brilliant hitting of young Moyes.  Going in first wicket down, he 
scored 158 in 125 minutes.  He gave a couple of chances of stumping, but his hitting was clean and terrifically hard.”  
(The Referee 27.11.1912). 
 
New South Wales v South Australia at the SCG, 10-14 January 1913. 
“One almost expects Hill to make big scores when they are needed, it is a habit of his; but few anticipated seeing a 
youth come forward on the visitors’ side, when things were looking black, and flog the New South Wales bowling to 
all parts of the field.  Alban Moyes, who is 20 years of age, and studying medicine at Adelaide University, did this, and 
proved himself to be the man of the moment.  His score of 95 was the finest effort made during the match.  He went 
to the wicket just before the tea interval, and stayed until close upon 6 o’clock.  Over-anxiety to score a hundred in a 
contest of this character was his undoing.  He was within five of his hundred, when he hit rashly at a ball from 
McCartney, and was caught.”  (Sydney Morning Herald 15.1.1913). 
 
“Moyes scored 95 in an hour and 41 minutes, hitting seventeen 4’s.  It was a great innings, marked by distinct class.  
Tall, he has a good reach and splendid strokes all round the wicket.  He is another batsman of Test match 
possibilities, and South Australia is to be congratulated on having produced him.”   
(Not Out in The Referee 15.1.1913). 
 
New South Wales v The Rest at the SCG, 7-12 February 1913. 
“He makes his strokes with surprising power, especially on the off-side in front of the wicket, and when an extra man 
was placed on the off-boundary to intercept his cover-drives he showed commendable versatility and enterprise in 
lifting the over-tossed ball into the unguarded outfield on the on-side; but his style is notably deficient at present in 
footwork, which is fundamental to correct stroke play.”  (Sydney Morning Herald 12.2.1913). 
 
University (172) v Sturt (120 & 8) at University Oval, 15 & 22 November 1913. 
“Johnny Moyes’ bowling is proving very useful to his club this season.  Johnny has a happy knack of being able to 
make an old ball swing away quite a lot.”  (Karl Quist in The Referee 12.11.1913). 
 
“Moyes maintained a wonderful length.  His final figures read – 5 overs, 4 maidens, 1 run, 5 wickets.”  (The Register, 
Adelaide, 24.11.1913). 
 
New South Wales v South Australia at the SCG, 19-23 December 1913. 
“He has some capital strokes on the off-side, especially behind point; still one is inclined to think it is just here that his 
weakness lies.  His footwork is defective, and no man can master the art of cutting until he first adopts the correct 
disposition of the feet.”  (Sydney Morning Herald 24.12.1913). 
 
Victoria v South Australia at the MCG, 26-30 December 1913. 
“Moyes pleased me very much, and if he makes headway in accordance with present promise, I do not hesitate to 
express my conviction that he will develop into a genuine first-flighter with the bat.  He has height, reach, good 
command of stroke, and uses his feet well in getting to the ball.  Through his quickness of footwork he played 
Armstrong better than any of his comrades.  He has something to learn in executing certain off strokes, and if he had 
a chance of watching an artist in cutting such as P. McAlister the result, in my opinion, would be greatly beneficial.”  
(Felix in The Australasian 3.1.1914). 
 
“It can be said of Moyes that he has hardly fulfilled the expectations of last season.  He has many fine strokes, and he 
gets his runs very attractively, but his batting still leaves the impression of his earlier efforts of uncertainty, not only 
in defence, but in his off strokes generally.”  (Sydney Morning Herald 18.2.1914). 
 
Selected for Australia to South Africa 1914/15 (tour aborted because of WW1) 
“C. Hill, V.T. Trumper, V.S. Ransford, H.V. Hordern, R.J.A. Massie, R.B. Minnett and D.M. Steele were not available for 
selection and M.A. Noble, H. Carter and F. Laver were probably overlooked because of their part in the ‘revolt’ of 
1912.  Of the team selected by C. Hill, E.E. Bean and L.O.S. Poidevin on 22 June 1912, Barbour (medical studies) and 
Hazlitt (teaching duties) had to withdraw and were replaced Park and Folkard respectively whilst Campbell was 
elevated to player-manager.  All 14 players were to have received £200, plus expenses, for the tour.  The team was to 
have left Sydney on the ‘Militiades’ on 5 October 1914 and to have arrived at Durban on 1 November, having played 
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a 3-day match against Western Australia.  Twenty-one matches were scheduled to be played in South Africa.  The 
tour was cancelled on 12 August 1914 because of the situation in Europe.”  (notes by Alf James 12.6.2012). 
 
University v Port Adelaide, October 1914. 
“Moyes secured the hat trick against the Ports.  The wickets were obtained with the last two balls of his second over 
and the first of the third.”  (Karl Quist in The Referee 21.10.1914).  He finished with 3/36. 
 
University v North Adelaide, March 1915. 
“A.G. Moyes was the star bowler of the side.  He sent them down a good length, making the ball swing a little, and at 
times bringing it back sharply from the off-side.  His figures of five for 54 were thoroughly deserved.”  (Karl Quist in 
The Referee 17.3.1915). 
 
AIF service in WW1 (16 Battalion) - enlisted 13 July 1915, embarked overseas aboard Borda 17 January 1916 and 
returned to Australia 8 November 1918.  Awarded Military Cross (London Gazette 3 June 1918). 
 
Appeared for the Dominions v England at Lord’s in August 1918. 
 
Victoria v South Australia at the MCG, 1-4 January 1919. 
“Among the onlookers was Major A.G. Moyes, M.C., prior to the war one of the leading South Australian cricketers.  It 
was feared that a bullet through the leg would cripple him, but he made a good recovery, and will probably continue 
his cricket as a resident of Melbourne.”   
(Observer in The Argus, Melbourne, 4.1.1919).   
 
Back from France, Moyes doesn’t intend going on with his course at Adelaide University but, instead, will settle on 
the land close to Melbourne where he can still play cricket in the capital.   
“He reports himself fairly fit, and if available, he may become one of the Australian A.I.F. team.  His name has been 
submitted by the board of control to the selectors.”  (The Referee 8.1.1919). 
 
“Major A.G. Moyes, M.C., has just pulled through after a severe bout with pneumonia and pleurisy in Melbourne.  The 
medical report is that he will become as strong as ever he was, and in that case we will probably see him in the 
Victorian colors against New South Wales next season.”   
(Not Out in The Referee 21.5.1919). 
 
Tasmania v Victoria at Launceston, 24-27 January 1920 – match cancelled (shipping strike). 
 
Essendon (8/271d) v South Melbourne (175 & 5/149), 24 & 31 January 1920. 
“The South Australian, G.A. Moyes, as fine a soldier as a cricketer, at length got amongst the runs in earnest, with a 
fine innings of 129, made in 120 minutes, with a 6 and sixteen 4’s as the choice strokes.  He scored evenly at a run a 
minute, drove beautifully, pulled anything slow with fine precision, and in timing and placing revealed the best 
qualities.  A chance on the long field to a substitute at 48 was the only flaw.”  (Substitute in The Referee 4.2.1920). 
 
“As a cricketer there are few more versatile players.  Last season he suffered greatly from the after-effects of the war, 
his wounds affecting his nerves.  It was some time before he struck form; but once he really felt the grip of the bat he 
was his brilliant old self.  As captain, batsman, and bowler Moyes has made his mark at Essendon.”  (Jack Worrall in 
The Australasian 16.10.1920). 
 
Essendon v Richmond, 15 January 1921. 
“It was a perfect treat to watch him.  His tally was 208 when an injury sustained earlier rendered it impossible to 
continue, and he retired hurt, his ill-fortune being accentuated by the fact that he then wanted one run only to equal 
the highest individual score ever made for Essendon (Davies 209 against South Melbourne).  His innings sparkled with 
a versatility of stroke that was entrancing.  His driving, cutting, and pulling were examples of perfect timing, and his 
placing was artistic.  Perhaps he might have been taken a couple of times, but the chances were difficult and not to 
be considered in comparison with the outstanding merit of his performance.  The rapidity and consistency of his 
scoring were far above that ordinarily seen in Melbourne for many years.  He gained 50 in 40 minutes, 100 in 105, 
150 in 155, 200 in 190, and 208 in 210.  No fewer than twenty-two 4’s stand to his credit, and two soaring 6’s.”  
(Onlooker in The Referee 26.1.1921). 
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39 as captain of Victoria Second XI (283) v NSW Second XI (120 & 109) at the SCG, 26-28 December 1921. 
 “The Victorians were handled ably by A.G. Moyes, and their fielding was spirited throughout.”  (Not Out in The 
Referee 28.12.1921). 
 
Essendon (5/377d) v St Kilda (170 & 3/22) at Essendon, 14 & 21 January 1922. 
“Moyes played a beautiful innings for 140, driving with great power.  He got his first 50 runs in 40 minutes, the 
hundred in an hour and a half.  He hit nineteen 4’s.  These figures tell all that is necessary as to the style of the 
innings.”  (Observer in The Argus, Melbourne, 16.1.1922).  
 
“A.G. Moyes, the South Australia-Victoria batsman who led the second eleven of Victoria in Sydney a little while back, 
and is leading them again to-morrow in Melbourne, is going into business in Sydney very shortly.  He intends to reside 
at Roseville, and tells me that he will join the Gordon District Club.  Gordon will thus have a splendid addition to their 
talent.  A.G.M. is a keen all-round cricketer, with a splendid knowledge of the game, a first-class batsman of the 
vigorous order, a clever slip fielder and a good captain.  He developed as a South Australian through the Adelaide 
University.  His studies there were interrupted by the war.  On active service he was wounded severely, but is alright 
again.  He was a major, and won the D.S.O. in the war.  Mr. Moyes is a most welcome addition to Sydney cricketers.”  
(Not Out in The Referee 25.1.1922). 
 
“Playing for Essendon v. North Melbourne on January 28 and February 4, A.G. Moyes made 130 out of 170 obtained 
whilst in, hitting a 6 and twenty-two 4’s.  He scored 24 off an over from Matthews and 19 off another.”  (Cricketer 
24.6.1922). 
 
Gordon (396) v Central Cumberland (159 & 4/105) at Chatswood Oval, 25 March & 1 April 1922. 
“Never before in First Grade cricket has been witnessed such terrific hitting as A.G. Moyes delighted onlookers with at 
Chatswood Oval on Saturday.  Going in first against Central Cumberland, he scored 218 in 83 minutes, hitting seven 
balls out of the ground and thirty-six 4’s.  He made the first and second fifties in 20 minutes each, and was 22 minutes 
scoring the third fifty.  Apparently regretting his lapse into such stonewalling methods, he ran from 150 to 200 in 13 
minutes!  Some years back when Victor Trumper hit four 6’s and two 4’s in an over (six balls) off T. Rose, the 
Waverley slow bowler, he scored a consecutive 50 slightly quicker than this, but it was not after having already made 
150 runs.  Moyes scored practically as he liked.  It was not wild hitting, but the shots were clean and hard and well-
timed.  J.S. Taylor and Moyes scored 263 for the first wicket, the former being then bowled for 58.”  (Rambler in The 
Referee 29.3.1922). 
 
New South Wales Trial match, 4 November 1922. 
“A.G. Moyes, it is understood, will be unable to take part in the bigger games later, so he preferred to give someone 
else an opportunity in this contest.”   
(Rambler in The Referee 1.11.1922). 
 
Named in the New South Wales practice squad for 1923/24.  (The Referee 14.11.1923). 
 
“Nothing can prevent Gordon winning the Sydney Premiership, their efforts to stall off University, after a weak first 
day’s start, being very successful.  Though Gordon are not a great team, as Premier teams go, they have shown most 
excellent team work, under the leadership of A.G. Moyes.”   
(Not Out in The Referee 2.4.1924). 
 
St George (336) v Gordon (5/528) at Hurstville Oval, 17 & 24 November 1923. 
“A.G. Moyes, the hard-hitting Gordon batsman, has again commenced the season well; but it was not as sensational 
as his commencement against St. George the previous season when he rattled up 174 in an hour and a half.  He 
included nine sixes and twenty-two fours in that total.  McCartney in the same match scored 142, including two sixes 
and twenty-one fours.”  (The Australian Cricketer October 1924). 
 
“A good deal of very fast scoring has been done against Central Cumberland.  F.S. Middleton once made 119 not out 
in 55 minutes for North Sydney, and T. Foster 115 in 45 minutes for Redfern.  A.G. Moyes hit up 100 in 40 minutes and 
218 in 1 hour and 23 minutes for Gordon also against Cumberland.  That was some going.”  (Not Out in The Referee 
12.1.1939). 
 
Editor of Sporting Life magazine. 



[Type here] 
 

 
“The N.S.W. and South Australian teams, and the umpires, lined up on the field at the S.C.G. before the resumption 
yesterday, in silent tribute to the late Mr. A.G. (Johnnie) Moyes.  It was fitting that the South Australian team should 
be there, for it was with S.A. that Johnnie first broke into big cricket.  His death is a severe loss to Australian cricket.  
Apart from his outstanding work as broadcaster, he wrote many books and his ‘History of Australian Cricket’ and his 
volumes on great batsmen and bowlers have become standard works.  He was a fine ‘character’ - staunch, and with a 
keen sense of humor.  As a broadcaster he was authoritative, he was forthright and fair - critical, when he thought 
the best interests of cricket were not being served.  His matured judgment enabled him to give a balanced summing 
up of the day’s operations.  He argued that the ball was there to be hit.  He had practised what he preached; in his 
later playing days in the Gordon team he many times smote the ball out of Chatswood Oval on to the railway line.  
Often he was in hectic partnerships with another veteran, Charlie McCartney, whom he greatly admired.  His funeral 
will take place tomorrow morning.”   
 
(Tom Goodman in Sun-Herald, Sydney, 20.1.1963). 
 

Club Cricket Statistics 

(played in 15* seasons at in 3 States) 

 

Courtesy of Ray Webster (Cricket Historian) 
* Note his single match in the 1927/28 season with Gordon is not included. 
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Jack Moyes – Obituaries 
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© 2020        Robert Martin O’Shannassy (AUFC/AUCC WW1 Memorial Committee) 

* Copyright may apply to some of the print and photographic media reproduced in this biographical booklet.  
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